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 1 P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S 

 2 (2:00 P.M.; OPEN COURT.)

 3 THE COURT:  Go right ahead, sir.

 4 CHUCK OSMIN, 

 5 having been duly sworn, testified as follows: 

 6 DIRECT EXAMINATION (CONT'D.) 

 7 BY MR. GOODMAN:  

 8 Q Mr. Osmin, when we were talking about your backg round

 9 before the lunch break, I neglected to ask you a question.

10 Let me do that now.

11 Did you have any prior experience as an Amway 

12 dealer? 

13 A Yes, I did.

14 Q During what years?

15 A Late 1982, '83 until roughly '89 or '90.

16 Q Was that a positive or negative experience for y ou, sir?

17 A It was a positive experience for me.

18 Q So you had good experience with multilevel marke ting?

19 A Yes.

20 Q When the police or law enforcement in this case executed

21 the search warrant at Ad Surf Daily, were you int erviewed by a

22 police officer?

23 A Yes, I was.

24 Q Did you do so voluntarily?

25 A Yes, I did.
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 1 Q Did you cooperate?

 2 A Yes, I did.

 3 Q Did you answer truthfully?

 4 A Yes, I did.

 5 Q What did you tell that police officer?

 6 A I was asked my name and I was asked if I liked w orking at

 7 ASD, to which I replied "yes."  I've stated on se veral

 8 occasions publicly and privately that this was th e job that

 9 I'd been looking for for 30 years because of the work

10 environment and the people that I was working wit h.  And he

11 asked me if I was a member, and I said yes, and h e asked how

12 much I had -- how many ad packs I had personally purchased,

13 and I told him 50.

14 Q Mr. Osmin, in addition to having companies selli ng

15 products and services on the Ad Surf Daily rotato r, are there

16 also some nonprofit organizations like churches w hich have

17 websites on the ASD rotator?

18 A Yes, there are.

19 Q Why did ASD decide to pay rebates when the site was down

20 and the customers could not surf to qualify for r ebates during

21 those times in July of 2008?

22 A That was decided as a customer service issue.  W e -- the

23 corporation felt that the people that had purchas ed

24 advertising were not getting -- were not getting their

25 dollars' worth because our sites were down and th at was a form
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 1 of compensation for that.

 2 Q And was this an ongoing situation or one that la sted just

 3 a few weeks that the site was down?

 4 A It lasted just while the site was down.

 5 Q Mr. Osmin, what has happened to ASD since the ba nk

 6 accounts were seized approximately two months ago ?

 7 A Pretty much a total shutdown.  We've had volunte ers that

 8 have been coming into the office, three primarily  that are

 9 there almost every day.  That would be myself, Mr . Talbert and

10 Mrs. Pacevich, and then we've had others that hav e come in as

11 they can because they had to seek other employmen t.

12 Q And this may be obvious, but are the members get ting the

13 benefit of traffic to their websites?

14 A No.

15 Q What would happen to the employees if the compan y was not

16 allowed to resume operations with the return of s ome funds

17 under a compliance plan within the next few weeks ?

18 A We would remain unemployed.  Quincy is not a lar ge town

19 and there's not a lot of employment opportunity t here.

20 MR. GOODMAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

21 THE COURT:  Thank you.

22 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

23 BY MR. MUTHYALA: 

24 Q Good afternoon, sir.

25 A Good afternoon.
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 1 Q I want to talk to you a little bit about your we bsites

 2 that you advertised.  You talked about the Whole Food

 3 Pharmacy, Xooma, and I believe another page.  Do you remember

 4 that testimony?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q Have you ever advertised those sites before join ing ASD?

 7 A I joined Xooma and the Whole Food Pharmacy after  I became

 8 employed with ASD, and I created my site for my c lowning

 9 business while I was an employee at ASD.

10 Q So, essentially, once you had an opportunity to

11 advertise, you created sites for it; is that righ t?

12 A For the clowning business, that's correct.  For the other

13 two, they are actually generated by the companies  that I

14 represent.

15 Q And those were created after you heard about ASD  and you

16 learned about the opportunities that ASD offered?

17 A They -- I joined after I was -- I joined the two  direct

18 marketing companies after I was employed with ASD , so yes.

19 Q Because you learned from ASD that you needed to post

20 websites in order to earn the rebates; is that co rrect?

21 A No, that was not my reasoning for creating those

22 websites.

23 Q One of the reasons; not the only reason?

24 A I was -- when I joined Whole Food Pharmacy and w hen I

25 joined Xooma, by joining, they create a proprieta ry website
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 1 for their distributors.  The clowning website was  one that I

 2 created in order to promote my clowning business.

 3 Q Okay.  Tell me how much money have you earned fr om your

 4 Whole Food Pharmacy business?

 5 A That, I am -- as far as earnings, nothing.  I've  been

 6 purchasing the products for my own use.

 7 Q Okay.  And how about for Xooma, how much have yo u earned

 8 from that business?

 9 A Xooma, I have not -- I've -- I have developed th ree

10 customers.  The cost of Xooma is very small.  It' s a 25-dollar

11 a month supplement and I've probably made less th an $100.

12 Q But you were simultaneously posting these websit es on

13 ASD; is that correct?

14 A That's correct.

15 Q And you were earning rebates from ASD; is that c orrect?

16 A That's correct.

17 Q How much did you earn in rebates from ASD, your total

18 rebates that you've earned for what you call adve rtising?

19 A I don't have those figures.

20 Q More than $200?

21 A I would say probably more than $200 with -- when  you take

22 into consideration that I had also sponsored refe rrals with

23 ASD.

24 Q Including your sponsors, would you say it's more  than

25 $1,000?
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 1 A No.

 2 Q Including your sponsors, would it be more than $ 500?

 3 A I don't believe so.

 4 Q Now, you said you -- you purchased the 50 ad pac kages?

 5 A Yes, I did.

 6 Q Were you also given ad packages?  

 7 A Yes, I was.

 8 Q Who gave you those ad packages?

 9 A They were a part of my compensation for working at

10 rallies -- well, one rally in Miami and the conve ntion in

11 Tampa.  That was, it was explained to me, as a bo nus for my

12 participation in those events.

13 Q And what was this compensation or bonus, as you call it,

14 how much was it for each rally?

15 A It was 600 ad packs for the Tampa convention, an d it was

16 1,000 for the Miami rally.

17 Q And did you receive any other bonuses in the for m of ad

18 packages?

19 A No.

20 Q Now, including those 1600 ad packs that you rece ived, now

21 we're at 1600 that you received from the company,  50 that you

22 purchased yourself?

23 A Right.

24 Q How many ad packages did you receive from referr als?

25 A Roughly 2,000.
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 1 Q So now we're at --

 2 A I'm sorry.  Yeah, 2,000.

 3 Q So we're at 3,650 ad packages?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q And you were earning rebates on those ad package s; is

 6 that correct?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And did you withdraw any of those rebates?

 9 A I withdrew, one time, $400.

10 Q So that's from the 3650, you took out $400?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And does that bring the number down, your ad pac kages

13 down to 3250?

14 A No.  The way the ad packages work, when you purc hase ad

15 packs, that becomes kind of a base number for you r -- each

16 time you purchase ad packs, it's a separate entry  on your ad

17 pack total.  The number of active ad packages tha t you have

18 doesn't necessarily mean that that number is goin g to

19 translate into whatever the rebates would be.

20 In other words, if I bought a thousand ad packs 

21 today, that is the base date, so to speak, for th ose ad packs.  

22 If I buy another thousand a month or two down the  line, my 

23 total active ad packages may be 2,000; however, I  will have 

24 accrued rebates for the -- for the time in betwee n.  Those -- 

25 those ad packs will expire when they reach 125 pe rcent in 
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 1 total rebates. 

 2 Q As a company representative, please explain to u s, let's

 3 work with that 1,000-dollar figure.  You go to AS D, give the

 4 company $1,000.  Tell us what happens, as an adve rtiser,

 5 someone comes to the company and says, "I want to  buy 1,000 ad

 6 packs"?

 7 A You would -- assuming that you were already regi stered on

 8 our website, we would post that to your account a nd they would

 9 start earning the rebates and you would start -- well,

10 considering if you were surfing, you would receiv e the rebates

11 up through -- until the value was 125 percent.

12 Q Now, we've talked about the rebate portion of it .  Let's

13 talk about the advertising portion.

14 A Okay.

15 Q Until three weeks ago -- I'm sorry, three weeks before

16 the search warrant, let's take that time frame.

17 A Okay.

18 Q This is before the system was implemented that a llowed

19 ASD to check whether anyone actually posted a web site onto the

20 system; is that correct?

21 A That was when we implemented not allowing them t o surf

22 without a site.

23 Q Not allowed to surf, i.e., not allowed to earn a  rebate?

24 A Right.

25 Q Okay.  So there was a time, three weeks before t he search
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 1 warrant -- I'm sorry, the seizure warrant was exe cuted, when

 2 there was no system in place at ASD to ensure tha t when people

 3 paid in or purchased ad packs, that they also had  to post a

 4 web page on the system?

 5 A I don't know.

 6 Q I thought that was your testimony earlier?

 7 A My testimony earlier, sir, was that it was rough ly three

 8 weeks before the seizure that they implemented th at part of

 9 the software.  I don't know before that if there were any

10 checks and balances.  I wasn't involved in that.

11 Q You were -- you started the company when, April 2008?

12 A Yes, as a customer service representative.

13 Q As a customer service representative.  And three  weeks

14 before the search -- the seizure warrant was exec uted, what

15 was your title?  What were your duties?

16 A I was the -- the actual title was "Accounting/Cu stomer

17 Service Team Leader."

18 Q And you knew about the program that was implemen ted to

19 make sure folks were -- had web pages on the site ; is that

20 right?

21 A Yes.

22 Q But before that, you don't know -- it's your tes timony,

23 as a company representative, you don't know wheth er there was

24 any system in place; is that right?

25 A That's correct.
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 1 Q Did you -- how did you learn that the company im plemented

 2 a system that checked to make sure folks had webs ites posted?

 3 A It was announced that that was the intention of the

 4 corporation.

 5 Q Who announced it?

 6 A That would have been Juan Fernandez, our CEO.

 7 Q How did he announce it?

 8 A In a meeting.

 9 Q And did he say why this change was implemented?

10 A We were trying to ensure compliance.

11 Q With what?

12 A With our terms and conditions, terms and service .

13 Q Which part of the terms and service were you try ing to

14 imply -- assure compliance with?

15 A The part that says that to earn rebates you have  to have

16 a website that you're advertising.

17 Q And that's what -- that's what Juan Fernandez sa id?

18 A To that effect.  I'm not quoting.

19 Q Okay.  But then ASD offered folks that don't hav e an --

20 have a website to advertise, the option to choose  from two

21 websites, right?

22 A Yes.  There were affiliate websites.

23 Q So, first you come up with a system that ensures  that

24 people have websites, is that right, about three weeks before

25 the search warrant?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q And then you come up with websites to give these  folks

 3 that don't have?

 4 A No, the affiliate -- the affiliate program was i n place

 5 prior to us enforcing the website.

 6 Q That was the -- that was actually in place befor e there

 7 was -- before Juan Fernandez announced there was going to be a

 8 program to ensure that folks had websites, ASD wa s already

 9 offering folks websites?

10 A The affiliate program was in place at the time o f my

11 employment.

12 Q Now, we've been talking about websites to ensure  that

13 folks have websites when they want to surf and ea rn rebates,

14 right?

15 A Correct.

16 Q Did anyone make sure that those websites actuall y were

17 linked to actual businesses or that there were ac tual

18 businesses that were on those websites?

19 A My understanding was that there were a team that  were

20 reviewing the websites to ensure that they were l egitimate

21 businesses, but I don't have any specifics about that.

22 Q Did you hear about folks posting My Space pages on ASD?

23 A I know that people had, and they were subsequent ly told

24 to -- that those were not valid websites for adve rtisement.

25 Q And how do you know that?
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 1 A Through discussions within -- within some of the  meetings

 2 that we had.

 3 Q Meetings with who?

 4 A Staff meetings.  We would have periodic customer  service

 5 staff meetings, usually more than once a week, to  go over

 6 issues that came up during the week, and that was  one of the

 7 things that were covered in the staff meetings wa s that My

 8 Space pages were not, in most part, valid -- vali d websites

 9 for advertisement.

10 There were some that -- that they deemed as being  

11 valid in the sense that it was a, for instance, v arious 

12 entertainers had My Space pages where they had li nks to 

13 purchase their CDs, things like that; however, we  -- we did 

14 discourage that also.  We -- we encouraged them t o have a 

15 separate website that was a commercial-type websi te. 

16 Q And in those situations, when people did not hav e

17 commercial-type websites, was the discussions mee ting to refer

18 them to Pay.com and Mobile Cash?

19 A No.  As customer service representatives, we cou ld tell

20 them what the rules were and we could encourage t hem to follow

21 those rules; however, we -- at our level, we had no

22 enforcement tools at our disposal.  We had to ref er those to

23 our IT team.

24 Q And what did the -- actually, let me stop there for a

25 second.
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 1 MR. MUTHYALA:  Brief indulgence, Your Honor.

 2 (PAUSE.)

 3 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Are you familiar with a g eneral

 4 knowledge test that was administered to customer service

 5 representatives of ASD?

 6 A I knew about that.  That was actually administer ed after

 7 I had been transferred to the accounting departme nt.

 8 Q You did hear about a test that was administered?

 9 A I heard about it.

10 Q And did you know that one of the questions on th is test

11 was, and I'm quoting, the question is, "If you do n't have a

12 personal business or a website, what companies ca n you

13 advertise?"

14 And then there is a blank and a blank.  "Where ca n a 

15 member find this info?"   

16 Did you ever hear that question before? 

17 A I believe I had.

18 Q And what are the -- what's the answer to that qu estion?

19 A That would be the two sites that were on the aff iliate

20 program, pay. -- .com and Mobile Cash.

21 Q And --

22 A And the other answer to that question is as to w here --

23 Q There was no other question.

24 A Where do you find them?

25 Q I'm sorry, go ahead.
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 1 A You find them under affiliate -- the affiliate p rogram's

 2 link that was on the Breaking News site.

 3 Q And this test was administered to customer servi ce

 4 representatives; is that correct?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q And what happened if customer representatives fa iled this

 7 test one time?

 8 A I -- again, I was not in the customer service de partment

 9 at that time.  I believe --

10 Q But you heard about that?

11 A I believe they were allowed to take it again.

12 Q And then what if they failed the second time?

13 A That, I don't know.

14 Q Was there ever a case where someone was terminat ed for

15 failing the general knowledge test, or as the com pany would

16 refer to it, meet academic standards?

17 A I have no firsthand knowledge of that.  I was no t in that

18 department.

19 Q Did you ever speak to anyone in the company, inc luding

20 Mr. Bowdoin, about that?

21 A No.

22 THE COURT:  Let me just interrupt for one questio n.

23 What was the title of the position you held at th e time the

24 company shut down?

25 THE WITNESS:  I was a team leader.
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 1 THE COURT:  Okay.  And what did --

 2 THE WITNESS:  And it was Accounting/Customer Serv ice

 3 Team Leader.

 4 THE COURT:  Thank you.

 5 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Who sits on the board of directors of

 6 Ad Surf Daily?

 7 A I don't know.

 8 Q Is that because there is no board of directors o f Ad Surf

 9 Daily?

10 A I -- I've never asked.

11 Q You're representing the company as you sit here today;

12 isn't that right?

13 A I am an employee of the company, yes.

14 Q And you're actually sitting here today as a

15 representative of ASD; is that right?

16 A I suppose.

17 Q And have you ever heard of a board meeting occur ring at

18 ASD?

19 A No.

20 Q Have you ever heard of any board members at ASD?

21 A Not -- No.

22 Q Now, when ASD originally began, they were paying  rebates

23 of up to 150 percent -- Strike that.  Let me ask a different

24 question.

25 When did ASD begin business? 
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 1 A My understanding, it was October 2006.

 2 Q And who was the president of ASD at the time?

 3 A Mr. Andy Bowdoin.

 4 Q And has Mr. Andy Bowdoin been the president of A SD the

 5 entire time?

 6 A To my knowledge, yes.

 7 Q And does Mr. Bowdoin have any background in adve rtising?

 8 A I don't know.

 9 Q Does Mr. Bowdoin have any experience offering se curities?

10 A I don't know.

11 Q When ASD first began, was there a board?

12 A I wasn't there at that time.

13 Q Sitting here today, do you know if when ASD firs t began

14 there was a board?

15 A No, I don't.

16 Q You began with the company in April of 2008?

17 A That's correct.

18 Q Okay.  At that time, was ASD offering rebates of  up to

19 150 percent or of up to 125 percent?

20 A The ad packs would expire at 125 percent.

21 Q The ad packs would expire at 125 percent.  Expla in that

22 to us.

23 A When you purchase an ad pack, you -- and you qua lify for

24 the rebates, your rebates will be paid provided t hat the

25 rebates are paid and provided that you have quali fied for the
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 1 rebates up to 125 percent of the value of the ad pack that you

 2 purchased.

 3 Q And then what happens?

 4 A It expires.  It is no longer part of the equatio n for the

 5 rebates.

 6 Q So, I have one web page I want to advertise on A SD.  I

 7 give ASD $100.  When does my advertisement, one a dvertisement

 8 stop showing?

 9 A That depends on a number of factors.  It depends  on you

10 surfing, because as you surf, you earn credits th at you apply

11 to your website.  If all you did was purchase 100  ad packs,

12 you would get 100 views on the rotator.

13 Q Okay.

14 A And that would be the end.

15 Q Okay.  That would be the end.  If I purchased 10 0, don't

16 do anything, I get 100 views on the ad -- on the viewer and

17 that would be the end --

18 A Correct.

19 Q Correct?  I buy 100 ad packs, I surf every day, what's my

20 required surfing every day?

21 A Depending on your member level, anywhere from 12  to 24

22 sites per day.

23 Q I'm the lowest member level.

24 A 24 sites per day.

25 Q I have to look at 24 sites per day?
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 1 A That's correct.

 2 Q But I can pay ASD money and surf less sites, rig ht?

 3 A There is a membership level -- there are four me mbership

 4 levels that would allow you to surf less, yes.

 5 Q An advertising company that pays me not to surf;  an

 6 advertising company that pays me not to look at a ds?

 7 A No, sir, you're paying us to not have to look at  the ads.

 8 Q Exactly.  I'm paying you -- I, the customer, am paying Ad

 9 Surf Daily, an advertising company, to not look a t ads?

10 A A membership fee.  That's separate from the ad p acks.

11 Q You're absolutely right.  You're calling it a me mbership

12 fee.

13 A That's separate from the ad packs.  It does not go on

14 your ad pack balance.

15 Q Exactly.  But what I'm doing essentially is you' re taking

16 my money, you call it membership fees, and then I  have to do

17 less work, right?

18 A Correct.

19 Q I don't have to look at advertisements?

20 A Yes, you do.

21 Q I have to look at less advertisements if I pay y ou money?

22 A Correct.

23 Q Okay.  So let's say I don't want to give you the  money

24 and I want to look at advertisements.  So now bac k to the

25 $100.  I gave you $100 and I'm not giving you any  membership
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 1 fees but I'm willing to look at 24 web pages a da y, 15 seconds

 2 a pop, right?

 3 A That's correct.

 4 Q I go through, click, click, click, look at all t he web

 5 pages; end of the day, what happens?

 6 A You would have 124 credits on your credit balanc e.

 7 Q Uh-huh.

 8 A You would have had as many as -- I think the ave rage was

 9 24 views of your website.

10 Q I would have had 24 views of my website?

11 A Yes.

12 Q What do you mean?

13 A I mean the -- the rotator, the software that the y used

14 for the rotator would put your website in front o f the members

15 an average of 24 times daily and that would use t he 24 credits

16 that you had earned.

17 THE COURT:  What about the $100?

18 THE WITNESS:  The $100 would turn into 100 ad pac ks,

19 which is the base for the commissions that -- or the rebates

20 that would be paid the following day.  He asked m e at the end

21 of the day.

22 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  At the end of Day One I h ave -- Okay.

23 So I put in $100 --

24 MR. MUTHYALA:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  Should I

25 continue?
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 1 THE COURT:  Go right ahead because now I thought I

 2 understood it and I guess I don't.  You put in $1 00 and now

 3 I'm entitled to 100 things called ad packs, which  really means

 4 that my website -- the first page of my website g ets on this

 5 rotator to be -- to be viewed by some number of m embers 100

 6 times?

 7 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

 8 THE COURT:  Is that -- that's once a day for 100

 9 days?

10 THE WITNESS:  No.

11 THE COURT:  100 times in one day?  What are we

12 talking about?

13 THE WITNESS:  Normally, the average was 24 times per

14 day.  It averages out to about once an hour that your site

15 comes up -- the front page of your site comes up on the

16 rotator.

17 THE COURT:  So that gives me essentially four day s.

18 If I paid $100, it will give me 100 ad packs, whi ch give me

19 100 times to be on the website and it happens 24 times a day,

20 that gives me four days?

21 THE WITNESS:  No.  When you --

22 THE COURT:  Of course not.

23 THE WITNESS:  Your Honor --

24 THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I thought I understood it ,

25 and now I know I don't.  Go on.
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 1 THE WITNESS:  Well, you probably do, but the term s

 2 are confusing.

 3 THE COURT:  Okay.

 4 THE WITNESS:  There's a difference between ad pac ks

 5 and credits.  You earn ongoing credits when you s urf, which

 6 allows you to put your website in front of people  24 times a

 7 day if you're surfing 24 times.  So the --

 8 THE COURT:  Let's just talk about paying a 100

 9 before we get into -- we get into looking at anyb ody else's

10 ads.  I paid $100, I have 100 ad packs, right, I' m using the

11 right term?

12 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

13 THE COURT:  How many -- that lets me have 100 vie ws

14 of my website.

15 THE WITNESS:  Your Honor, along with those 100 ad

16 packs, you also get 100 credits, and it's the cre dits that are

17 applied to viewing your website.  The ad packs ar e there

18 representing what you have purchased before they' re used, and

19 it remains there until such time as you have earn ed rebates

20 accumulated to 125 percent of your initial purcha se.  

21 But the operative thing that is used to put your 

22 website onto the rotator is not ad packs, per se,  it's 

23 credits, and you're -- each day when you're surfi ng, you're 

24 accruing more credits that allows more views of y our website.   

25 THE COURT:  So if I buy -- pay $100, so I have wh at
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 1 are called 100 ad packs.  For operating purposes,  I really get

 2 100 credits.

 3 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

 4 THE COURT:  And the 100 credits allows my website  to

 5 be shown 24 times a day.

 6 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

 7 THE COURT:  And if I didn't do any viewing of

 8 anybody else's websites, I would run out when I r an out of 100

 9 credits?

10 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

11 THE COURT:  Which is about four days?

12 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

13 THE COURT:  Okay.  But if in the meantime I do

14 surfing and so I'm watching other people's websit es, then I

15 can earn 24 credits a day, which gives me 124 cre dits at the

16 end of the first day.

17 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

18 THE COURT:  Well, actually it gives me 100 credit s

19 because I've used up 24 of them.

20 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

21 THE COURT:  So if I look at 24 websites a day, I' m

22 sort of treading water.  I'm using up 24, I'm add ing 24 but

23 I'm treading water.  I'm not making any progress.

24 THE WITNESS:  As far as advertising your own

25 business on your website, yes, but by surfing the  24 sites
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 1 every day, you are qualifying for the rebates, wh ich is a

 2 different part of the program.

 3 THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.  So the same -- the

 4 surfing gives me not only credits for running my website, but

 5 it also gives me something we'll call rebate chun ks.  It's

 6 actually credits for rebates, rebate chunks, whic h is my 100

 7 ad packs as against the totality of the number of  ad packs and

 8 I get some tiny little percentage, right?

 9 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

10 THE COURT:  Right.  It's a proportionate payment.

11 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

12 THE COURT:  Well, I sort of understood it.  I was n't

13 quite as far off as it sounded as if I were going  to be.

14 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Okay.  So, essentially --

15 THE COURT:  Did I understand it, everybody?  Oh,

16 good.  They think I understood it.  Okay.  We're together.

17 MR. COWDEN:  Let the record reflect it didn't tak e

18 three weeks, Judge.

19 THE COURT:  Well, I've been listening.

20 (LAUGHTER.)

21 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  So, essentially, as the j udge said,

22 you're treading water with the 24 ad packs a day.   You

23 essentially keep -- it doesn't expire in four day s as the judge

24 originally thought.  It keeps on going because yo u're able to

25 get 24 views, 24 credits, you're good, you're goo d, you're good.
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 1 It would go on indefinitely but for the terms and  conditions

 2 which state, "Your ad package will expire when yo u receive

 3 125 percent rebate of your advertising cost."  Is  that right?

 4 A Correct.

 5 Q Your ad packages -- the company's obligation to show a

 6 customer's web page only stops once the customer has received

 7 125 percent?

 8 A The companies -- the company will continue to sh ow your

 9 website as long as you have credits to allocate t o the viewing

10 of your website.  What stops is the payment of th e rebates.

11 Q Exactly.  But the rebates stop at 125 and your a d package

12 or this --

13 A There's -- that's what we call an active ad pack age.  On

14 the -- on the member's what we refer to as the ba ck office or

15 their account overview, if you go into the accoun t overview,

16 there was what they called an ad package history.

17 Q Uh-huh.

18 A That history shows several things.  It shows the  amount

19 of the ad package purchased, it shows the accumul ated rebates

20 that have been charged to that ad pack or actuall y credited to

21 that ad pack, and it shows whether that ad packag e has

22 expired, and when it expires, it drops off your a ctive ad

23 package.

24 Now, there was another total at the bottom that w as 

25 total ad packages.  That's all the ad packages yo u purchased 
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 1 whether they expired or not, so there were two to tals on 

 2 there. 

 3 Q Okay.  But essentially the company or the advert isement,

 4 ad package for that $100 that you've given the co mpany, you

 5 won't make more than 125 percent?

 6 A Correct.

 7 Q Okay.  And then at that point, that ad package e xpires?

 8 A Correct.

 9 Q Okay.  And now, the same thing would happen if s omeone

10 put in $10,000; is that right?

11 A Correct.

12 Q One web page, $10,000, the exact same scenario p lays out?

13 A Correct.

14 Q You only get 24 views of your web page?

15 A There was what we called a PTC.  Now, most of --  most of

16 the people that I dealt with understood that when  they

17 purchased a large amount of ad packs, that they w ere going to

18 participate in the, what we called, Pay To Click.   And what

19 that was, that was a separate part of the website  where you

20 could put up your website and you would give cred its to other

21 members for clicking on your specific website.

22 In other words, instead of waiting for it to come  up 

23 in the rotator, you can allow anywhere from one t o an infinite 

24 number of credits, however many you had, to pay p eople to look 

25 at your website. 
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 1 Q But at the end of the day, whether you gave $100  or

 2 $10,000, the company's obligation to show the web  page would

 3 cease once 125 percent was returned?

 4 A The company's obligation to pay rebates would ce ase at

 5 125 percent.  The company's obligation to show yo ur website

 6 was contingent upon the credits that you allocate d to your

 7 website.

 8 Q Could people cash out their credits?

 9 A No.

10 THE COURT:  Why not?  You said you cashed out som e

11 of yours?  Why couldn't people cash out theirs?

12 THE WITNESS:  You don't cash out the credits.  Th ere

13 were three balances on the back office.  There wa s the active

14 ad packages, after that there was the credit bala nce, which

15 was the number of credits that you've earned, and  the third

16 was a cash balance.  That's where your rebates we re paid.

17 You don't cash out your credits.  You cash out yo ur 

18 cash balance, which is -- that's where the rebate s and the 

19 commissions were paid. 

20 THE COURT:  Got it.

21 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  So now we've talked about  this 125

22 number a lot.  A lot of people were getting this 125 percent,

23 right?

24 A There were ad packages that were expiring daily,  yes.

25 Q Exactly.  And so those ad packages are expiring because
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 1 people are getting 125 percent?

 2 A They have been -- they had been paid their 125 p ercent in

 3 the rebates, yes.

 4 THE COURT:  They had been paid the 125 percent in

 5 the rebate but they didn't necessarily cash them out.  They

 6 could just be in their cash balance.

 7 THE WITNESS:  Or they could purchase other

 8 advertising with them.  They term that as a rollo ver sometimes

 9 or an upgrade.

10 THE COURT:  Okay.

11 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Did a lot of people actua lly cash out?

12 A Some did.  I mean, there were -- there were -- y es, there

13 were cash-outs.

14 Q ASD was sending out checks every single day?

15 A Yes.

16 Q Substantial amounts of checks every single day?

17 A I don't know totals, but I would assume so, yes.

18 Q There was actually a backlog; you were running b ehind

19 schedule on sending out people's cash-outs?

20 A That happened shortly after the Tampa convention  in June.

21 Our site was down for approximately 10 to 13 days  for

22 upgrading.

23 Q And there was a -- essentially people were comin g and

24 asking for their money back?

25 A No, no.  What was happening was there was -- dur ing that
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 1 time our site was down, they could not request a cash-out.

 2 The first day when we came back up online, we had  over 800

 3 cash-out requests in an office that at that time was four

 4 people, and they had to process the paperwork, th ey had to

 5 send it to accounts payable.

 6 Q And was this during the 20,000 members or 100,00 0-member

 7 time frame?  When was this?

 8 A That was -- we probably had 50- to 60,000 at tha t time.

 9 The -- that was right at the beginning of the mem bership

10 explosion.

11 Q And --

12 A And that is what initially caused the backlog in  our

13 cash-out system.

14 Q Where was this extra 25 percent coming from that  was

15 being paid out to people, because obviously peopl e putting in

16 100, taking out 125, where was the extra $25 comi ng from?

17 A It was coming from the 50 percent of the revenue s.

18 Q Where does that come from?

19 A Where does the revenue come from?

20 Q Yes.

21 A From people buying ad packs and from whatever ot her

22 income sources ASD had.  I'm not --

23 Q Let's talk about that other income sources that ASD had.

24 What other income sources ASD had other than memb ers?

25 A I don't know specifics on those.  I was never in volved.
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 1 Q Tell us what you know generally about the topic.

 2 A I had a conversation with one of the -- one of

 3 Mr. Bowdoin's -- I don't know whether he's a busi ness partner

 4 or just an affiliate.  His name is Nate Boyd.  Fo r quite

 5 awhile I was in touch with him.  Before Mr. Peter son came

 6 aboard, he was a compliance officer, and in my ca pacity as

 7 customer service, it was necessary for me to make  contact with

 8 him several times with compliance issues, and I a sked him

 9 directly the question about the other source of i ncome, and he

10 told me that they were there.

11 He didn't -- he wasn't specific as to what they 

12 were, and he said that, you know, we -- we, as a company, have 

13 not disclosed those to the general public, and th at -- I 

14 trusted Nate Boyd enough to know that if he said they were 

15 there, they were probably there. 

16 Q Did you prepare at all before you came in today?

17 A Did I prepare?

18 Q Prepare for the testimony today?

19 A I had conversations with my attorney, yes.

20 Q Other than conversations with the attorneys, did  you have

21 any conversations with anyone at ASD?

22 A No, not specific -- not specific to my testimony , no.

23 Q Did you talk generally about your testimony, abo ut the

24 type of questions that the prosecutors would ask and the type

25 of things the judge would want to know?
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 1 A No, not with anyone at ASD.

 2 Q Did you talk to Andy Bowdoin before you came her e today?

 3 A No.

 4 Q You didn't think it was important to talk to the

 5 president of the company when you're coming to co urt to

 6 testify about the company?

 7 A I was lower-level management and he's the presid ent of

 8 the company and I didn't see him that often.  Ove r the past

 9 six weeks, he was mainly coming into the office t o confer with

10 the CF- -- the current CFO, Gary Talbert or to, y ou know,

11 meetings that he had with other people.

12 Q How about before the six weeks -- before these l ast six

13 weeks when the company was actually functioning, did you talk

14 to Andy Bowdoin?

15 A We spoke.  He was in the office almost every day .  His --

16 it usually took him anywhere from 10 to 15 minute s to get to

17 his office because he would go around shaking han ds and asking

18 people how they were.  He's a very amiable man.

19 Q Did he ever talk to you about income sources for  the

20 company?

21 A No.

22 Q Did you ever attend any rallies or conventions?

23 A I was at the Tampa convention and I was at the M iami

24 rally.

25 Q Did you listen to Mr. Bowdoin speak at the Miami  rally?
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 1 A No, sir.

 2 Q So you have -- sitting here today, is your testi mony you

 3 don't know any income source that ASD has, other than members

 4 themselves?

 5 A Well, I know that GreenBackStreet was one that w as to be

 6 bringing in revenue.

 7 Q How much revenue was GreenBackStreet supposed to  be

 8 bringing in?

 9 A I don't know.

10 Q Did you ever ask him?

11 A No.

12 Q You were in customer service, right?

13 A Yes.

14 Q People call you about ASD?

15 A Yes.

16 Q They ever ask you how does the company make mone y?

17 A No.

18 Q No one ever asked that?

19 A That --

20 Q In your eight -- April through August, five mont hs that

21 you were at ASD, no one ever asked -- when someon e called

22 customer service, never asked you how did the com pany make

23 money?

24 A Usually when people were calling me, it was beca use they

25 were trying to straighten things out in their own  account.  It
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 1 wasn't -- I wasn't the information man in the com pany as far

 2 as, you know, like what you'd see at the airport,  someone, you

 3 know, that's -- just answering general questions.

 4 They were calling me or e-mailing me on specific 

 5 issues with their account. 

 6 Q What type of specific issues about their account  did most

 7 people call about?

 8 A Most of the time it was ad packs that hadn't bee n posted

 9 yet or they would -- they would contact me about cash-outs;

10 however, I was not in the cash-out department and  I would send

11 them to the appropriate person.

12 Q You were here when Mr. Nehra was testifying?

13 A I was.

14 Q And you remember Mr. Cowden and him were going b ack and

15 forth and back and forth and back and forth and b ack and

16 forth --

17 MR. COWDEN:  Objection.

18 (LAUGHTER.)

19 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  -- about the 125 percent?

20 A Yes.

21 Q People in ASD were getting 125 percent, right?  You

22 testified to that a few minutes ago?

23 A Yeah.  There were ad packs that expired, yes.

24 Q Yeah, tons -- a lot of people getting 125 percen t.

25 MR. GOODMAN:  Objection to the form of the questi on,
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 1 "tons" and "a lot."

 2 THE COURT:  All right.  We'll take out "tons" and

 3 put in "a lot."

 4 MR. MUTHYALA:  I'm sorry.

 5 (LAUGHTER.)

 6 A There were ad packs that were expiring every day .  That

 7 was a -- that was a natural course of business.

 8 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Okay.  We've heard a lot about the

 9 50 percent.  The way ASD pays the rebates is on 5 0 percent of

10 yesterday's revenue, as you called it?

11 A Correct.

12 Q Right?  And you haven't said this yet but I thin k you'll

13 agree with me when I say, according to ASD, on th e days when

14 there is no revenue, people don't get anything, r ight?

15 A As a matter of policy, that's correct.  If there  were --

16 if there were no revenue, there would be no rebat es.

17 Q Okay.  And --

18 THE COURT:  Is it not true as a matter of practic e?

19 THE WITNESS:  The reason I say that, Your Honor, is

20 there were times when what we termed global credi ts were

21 issued, and I think that's what counsel was getti ng at, and

22 those were customer service issues.

23 THE COURT:  So that you were crediting people for

24 watching things that they couldn't watch.

25 THE WITNESS:  Well, for not being able to do what  we
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 1 were doing as a service to them.

 2 THE COURT:  So where did the money come from if

 3 there were no revenue the prior day?

 4 THE WITNESS:  My understanding as to where that

 5 money came from, there is -- in the formula that' s -- that's

 6 set out in our documents, there is a 5 percent fu nd that, for

 7 lack of a better explanation, is a rainy day fund .

 8 THE COURT:  Right.

 9 THE WITNESS:  And that -- that was where --

10 THE COURT:  It's used as unidentified.

11 THE WITNESS:  Ma'am?

12 THE COURT:  It's used as unidentified.

13 THE WITNESS:  Exactly.  And that was where those --

14 those global credits were coming from.

15 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  So it's not true that you  only get paid

16 from ASD if there was money from the day before.  There's this

17 reserve account which every single day 5 percent of ASD's funds

18 are going into.  That's essentially a way to keep  on paying,

19 right?

20 A That's -- I don't know all of the functions of t he

21 reserve account.  That is -- it is my understandi ng that when

22 global credits were applied, that that was where they were

23 coming from.

24 Q Let's help you out with the understanding of you r

25 company's reserve accounts.  Here is a short line  about it.
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 1 And while you're looking at this, I'll try to fin d the place

 2 with some more information.

 3 Looking at the -- this paragraph right here.  

 4 (Reading) To maintain the stability of the progra m..." 

 5 THE COURT:  What document are you looking at?

 6 MR. MUTHYALA:  I am looking at Government

 7 Exhibit No. 2, Your Honor.  

 8 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

 9 MR. MUTHYALA:  Sorry.  And this will be admitted

10 into evidence.  I think it already has been.

11 THE COURT:  I think it has been.

12 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Yes. (Reading)  To mainta in the

13 stability of the program, the daily rebate will b e capped at

14 8 percent.  Any excess will go into a reserve acc ount to be used

15 when rebates are extremely low.

16 So ASD's policy is that they will use the rebates

17 when -- I'm sorry, they'll use the reserve accoun t when

18 rebates are extremely low.  

19 So would you agree with me now that ASD doesn't - - I 

20 don't want to do a double negative.  ASD pays eve n though 

21 there may not have been sales the day before? 

22 A They had mechanisms in place that would allow th em to

23 issue the global credits on days when our members  could not

24 surf or when revenues could not be posted to the accounts.

25 Q The reserve account was created to pay -- I'm so rry.
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 1 "Yes" or "no" answer.  The reserve account was cr eated for

 2 when revenue was low?

 3 A Correct.

 4 Q And in fact, let me get back to something we tal ked about

 5 earlier.  I'm sorry.  I don't mean to jump around .

 6 We talked about those ad packs expiring once peop le

 7 received 125 percent, right?

 8 A Yes, sir.

 9 Q So days when people can't show their web page an d people

10 can't go surf the web -- surf their web because A SD was down

11 for those two-week period, people were losing the ir packages,

12 they were getting rebates back, so their packages  were

13 starting to expire even though their web page was n't being

14 shown; is that right?

15 A Again --

16 Q "Yes" or "no" first.

17 A I would have to say "no" to that question.

18 Q Why?

19 A The ad packs were not what was allowing them to be shown

20 on the rotator.  The reason for the global credit s was for

21 compensation for the advertising time that they w ere losing.

22 It was -- it did not -- it was -- it was applied to the

23 individual ad packages for rebate purposes, but t hey lost no

24 credits when their advertisements were not in the  rotator.

25 Q So it's almost like the rebates are completely s eparate
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 1 and apart from the advertising?

 2 A No.  It's not completely separate.

 3 Q One second now.  You're not -- because these peo ple are

 4 suffering and they're not --

 5 MR. GOODMAN:  Excuse me.  Objection.  Can the

 6 witness finish giving the answer, please?

 7 THE COURT:  I think he finished.  Why don't we go

 8 on.  This is cross-examination.  Go ahead.

 9 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Now -- oh, I totally lost  my train of

10 thought.  I'll come back to that in a second.

11 Okay.  Now, here it is.  125 percent.  You're pay ing

12 it when people can't look at their -- can't look at their web

13 pages.  That's an obligation that ASD has no matt er what.

14 What is the company doing for folks when the web page cannot

15 be shown?

16 MR. GOODMAN:  Objection to the form of the questi on,

17 Your Honor.

18 THE COURT:  All right.  Yes.  You're not asking y our

19 question.  You're making a statement and then you 're asking a

20 different question.

21 MR. MUTHYALA:  Let me ask a question then.

22 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Essentially, ASD is payin g 125 percent.

23 We've established that already.

24 A Correct.

25 Q Right.  When the web page is down, ASD isn't doi ng
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 1 anything special for its members, right?  It's st ill -- was

 2 going to pay the 125, it's paying the 125.  The a dvertising is

 3 not working; ASD is just paying it out?

 4 A It's paying whatever percentages for those days,  those

 5 individual days.

 6 Q Exactly, and it's always -- historically, always  been

 7 around 1 percent during a weekday and about .5 pe rcent on the

 8 weekend; is that right?

 9 A With exceptions, yes.

10 Q Has ASD ever paid more than 2 percent on any day ?

11 A Yes.

12 Q What days are those?

13 A I don't have the -- I don't have the date with m e, but

14 I've seen -- I've seen 2.13 percent as one partic ular number

15 that stays in my mind.

16 Q How about more than 2.5 percent?

17 A That, I don't believe I've seen, other than -- n ow, when

18 the global credits are applied, they're applied i n a lump sum

19 percentage, and I've seen 8 percent on those.

20 Q But over a period -- that's supposed to be divid ed over a

21 period of five days?

22 A Exactly.

23 Q Exactly.  So, it's not really 8 percent, right?

24 A Right.

25 Q For one day.
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 1 What's your understanding of how many people are in 

 2 ASD only for the advertising and not the rebates?  

 3 A I don't know.  I really have no figures on that.   That

 4 was not my -- my position in customer service, I dealt with

 5 people whether they were in it for the rebates or  were in it

 6 for the advertising.  It mattered not to me.  My -- my concern

 7 was taking their issues and getting them correcte d so that

 8 they could go on with whatever they were doing.  I never

 9 asked.

10 Q Did you ever hear anyone talk about just the adv ertising,

11 no, I'm not interested in the rebates?

12 A Yes, I have.

13 Q On how many occasions have you heard that?

14 A On several.  It's -- it's -- I'm going to say it 's a

15 common occurrence for someone to get involved wit h ASD for the

16 advertising, not realizing that they could make r ebates.  I've

17 spoken to several members that that's how they go t involved

18 was to advertise their website.

19 Q And do any company names come to mind?

20 A Green Gopher Health.  Mr. --

21 Q Green Gopher Health, that's the gentleman, Mr. - -

22 A That's --

23 THE COURT:  Grayson.

24 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Mr. Grayson.  Mr. Grayson  who testified

25 earlier?
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 1 A He's one I've had a lot of conversations with in  the past

 2 while doing customer service for him and his orga nization.  He

 3 was -- he was one of them that told me that he wa s in for

 4 several weeks before he even put any money into i t because he

 5 was in it for the advertising.

 6 Another one is Tom Ray was -- I think he was six 

 7 weeks just doing advertising before he realized t hat there was 

 8 a potential to get rebates. 

 9 Q When you say "advertising," you mean the free pa rt of the

10 advertising?

11 A Exactly.

12 Q Okay.  Valid point.  Absolutely.  But now, peopl e that

13 paid for the advertising, Mr. Grayson -- you were  here, we

14 were all here, once he started paying for the adv ertising, he

15 always admitted, he was like, "I was in it for th e rebates as

16 well as the advertising"; is that not true?

17 MR. MUTHYALA:  I'm sorry, is there an objection?  I

18 didn't finish my own question.

19 MR. GOODMAN:  It was a premature objection.  You did

20 an auto turn and you changed the question in the middle and

21 saved yourself.

22 A Mr. Grayson was --

23 THE COURT:  I think we're all learning that you'r e

24 in law school.

25 (LAUGHTER.)
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.  We'll say there aren't

 2 objections being made that could be made, so don' t think this

 3 is real life.

 4 MR. MUTHYALA:  Absolutely.

 5 THE COURT:  Okay.  Do you remember the question?

 6 THE WITNESS:  Your Honor, if this is not real lif e,

 7 please wake me up and let me be in Quincy.

 8 THE COURT:  This is real.

 9 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Do you remember the quest ion?

10 A Mr. Grayson was participating in the rebates, ye s.

11 Q Okay.  Now, talking about people who were paying  for

12 advertising, did you -- did you speak to many peo ple, as you

13 said, who were in it just to pay to have their si te

14 advertised?  Why would -- Sorry.  Let me stop the re.

15 A Yes, I spoke to many people that had paid for

16 advertising.

17 Q And that weren't also interested in the rebate?

18 A The rebates were an intrinsic part of the overal l

19 business model.

20 Q Yes, but my question is -- Sorry.  Go ahead.

21 A And because of that, the rebates were discussed,  yes.  I

22 don't -- I don't have insight to why people would  -- why

23 business people would do the things that they're doing with

24 their advertising.  That wasn't my -- that wasn't  what I was

25 trying to do.  I was trying to help them with any  -- any
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 1 issues that they had.

 2 Q Someone can advertise their business on ASD for free?

 3 A That's correct.

 4 Q Why would they then give ASD money, other than t he fact

 5 that they want the rebate?

 6 A One of the -- again, with the Pay To Click progr am that

 7 we had, there were times when you would need to h ave more

 8 credits than what you would be earning by surfing .  If you

 9 wanted to take advantage of the Pay To Click prog ram, which to

10 the best of my knowledge was a very good way of g etting your

11 site in front of targeted audiences, because peop le could pick

12 and choose what they wanted to click on to see th at web page.

13 I mean, when you went into that part of the back 

14 office, it would come up with a whole list of ban ner-type ads 

15 that were -- you know, one might be Bonzo & Compa ny, one might 

16 be Green Gopher Help, and in order to put your si te into the 

17 Pay To Click stream, so to speak, you would alloc ate credits, 

18 usually multiple credits to a single viewing of y our site. 

19 Q When you say "targeted audience," do you mean so meone

20 would do a search for healthcare items and they'd  pop up on a

21 website in ASD?

22 A No, there was no search engine on there, but wha t you

23 could do is you could go down the list, however m any pages of

24 the banner ads there were, and you could pick and  choose what

25 you wanted to look at.
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 1 Therefore, I say "targeted audience" in the sense  

 2 that they're not necessarily clicking on your ad just because 

 3 they want to see your ad.  If you have a -- if yo u have a 

 4 widget company and they're looking for a widget, they'd click 

 5 it. 

 6 Q But there's no way to find that widget company u nless you

 7 scrolled and scrolled and scrolled on a page?

 8 A For however many ads there were, yes.

 9 THE COURT:  How many free advertisers are there o r

10 were there?

11 THE WITNESS:  I don't have numbers, Your Honor.  I

12 know that there are free advertisers.  I know tha t there were

13 quite a few.  I myself joined for free and was --  I had my --

14 my clowning website was actually the first websit e that I put

15 up there and I was doing it for free.  This was b efore I ever

16 got ad packs as a bonus or -- there was -- there were two

17 weeks before I ever got a bonus, you know, with - - where the

18 company actually gave me ad packs, but I was -- I  was putting

19 my clowning site into the rotator in the hopes of  someone

20 locally seeing the website.

21 Q But the website wasn't capable of just showing t o certain

22 geographical areas; is that right?

23 A No.  That was something that we were hoping to b e able to

24 do.

25 Q You said "we were hoping to do," who are you tal king
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 1 about?

 2 A We, as a corporation.  We -- that was one of the  things

 3 discussed in some of our meetings was that we wer e -- we were

 4 looking for the function to be able to separate,

 5 geographically, the different websites so that th e advertising

 6 would be more -- more localized.

 7 Q Ever hear of Andy Bowdoin talking about investin g funds

 8 in -- Sorry -- investing member funds into call c enters --

 9 into a call center in South America, ever hear an ything about

10 that?

11 A No.

12 Q You read the Government's complaint, did you not ?

13 A Not all of it.  I read the main body of it.

14 Q In that complaint there was a portion of Mr. Bow doin at

15 the Miami rally and there's a transcript that som eone on the

16 web transcribed of what he said at the Miami rall y.  Did you

17 get a chance to read that?

18 A I don't recall that, Counselor.

19 Q Did you ever hear of Andy Bowdoin talking about investing

20 funds from ASD into an international bank?

21 A There was -- yes, there was, if you're referring  to

22 Antigua.  That was -- that was in order to have a

23 processing of -- I don't know exactly what it's c alled, but

24 that -- that account was set up in order to be ab le to accept

25 a Visa card at the rallies.
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 1 Q What about Andy Bowdoin talking about investing in the

 2 real estate market?

 3 A We had recently purchased a four-story building,  and they

 4 were -- they had discussed buying distressed prop erties and

 5 using those as -- as an investment to basically w ait out the

 6 housing market and sell at a profit.

 7 Q And this was using the money that was coming in from ASD

 8 members?

 9 A That was a separate corporation.

10 Q What corporation was that?

11 A I believe it was called Bowdoin Harris or Harris  Bowdoin.

12 Q And where was the money from Bowdoin Harris goin g to come

13 from?

14 A I don't know.  I wasn't involved with them.

15 Q But when Mr. Bowdoin talked about investing in r eal --

16 the real estate market, was he talking about usin g the master

17 money?

18 A I don't know.

19 Q Now, getting back a little bit to this -- someth ing we

20 talked about earlier.  You put in $50, right?

21 A Yes, sir.

22 Q And you pulled out $400?

23 A Yes, sir.

24 Q 700 percent return.

25 A I received --
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 1 Q "Yes" or "no"?

 2 A That would be whatever the percentage is, yes.

 3 Q And you never asked Andy Bowdoin where that mone y came

 4 from?

 5 A I knew where that came from.  I didn't have to a sk Andy

 6 Bowdoin.  That came from the bonuses that were --  that were

 7 given to me for my performance.  They gave me ad packages,

 8 which gave me rebates for which I was able to cas h out.

 9 Q So, Andy Bowdoin was treating the ad packages,

10 essentially, as compensation, as money, right?

11 A He was treating them as ad packs that were gifte d to me,

12 yes.

13 Q And he was treating it as cash?

14 A No.  I treated it as cash when I got my check.

15 Q Exactly.  So you were looking for it into cash, right?  I

16 mean -- Let me back up.  You went to this rally y ou worked.

17 Normally people get cash when they work, right?

18 A I did get paid.  That was a bonus.

19 Q And normally people get bonuses in cash, right?

20 A Sure.

21 Q And in this case, you got a bonus in cash as wel l, right?

22 A Sure.  It was a bonus in ad packs, yes.

23 Q And that was essentially -- Strike that.  Who's Tiffany

24 Osmin?

25 A Tiffany Osmin is my niece.
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 1 Q And you gave her ad packages; is that right?

 2 A Yes, I did.

 3 Q What for?

 4 A I wanted her to see how ASD worked.  I gave her 10 ad

 5 packages.

 6 Q Did she have a -- did she have a business?

 7 A I don't know.

 8 Q Because --

 9 A She was advertising -- she was -- she told me sh e was

10 going to advertise my business; however, she neve r surfed, so

11 you know, those 10 ad packs are still sitting rig ht there.

12 They never earned anything.

13 Q Who is Jonathan Osmin?

14 A Jonathan is my son.

15 Q How old is he?

16 A He is 19.

17 Q And you gave him some ad packages as well?

18 A Yes, I did.

19 Q What for?

20 A I initially set him up with, I believe, 10 ad pa cks.  I

21 gave him 50 ad packs for his birthday, and he is

22 advertising -- the site on the rotator that he's using is

23 Bonzo & Company because he is part of Bonzo & Com pany.  He

24 does face painting and clowning.  Does a great ba lloon animal.

25 Q A great what?
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 1 A Balloon animal.

 2 MR. MUTHYALA:  Brief indulgence, Your Honor.

 3 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

 4 (PAUSE.)

 5 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Sir, you had an opportuni ty to look at

 6 the ASD web page; is that right?

 7 A That's correct.

 8 Q And Government Exhibit No. 3 is what appears on the

 9 company link of the ASD web page.  Take a look at  that screen

10 if you don't mind.  Is that right?

11 A That's correct.

12 THE COURT:  Hold on.  We're having a little

13 technical glitch here.  Can you still get it?  Ca talina, can

14 you still take it down?

15 COURT REPORTER:  Yes, I can, Judge.

16 THE COURT:  Never mind, then, keep going.

17 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Sir, around what time did  you see this

18 web page -- this ASD web page and it looked like this?

19 A I don't know if I'm --

20 Q Do you understand the question?  Let me try to r e-ask the

21 question.

22 When is the last time you looked at the ASD web p age 

23 and you saw what I'm showing you in Government Ex hibit 3? 

24 A It has been quite awhile.  I looked at it when I  was

25 first employed with the company.  After that, I h ad no
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 1 occasion to go back.

 2 Q So around April of 2008?

 3 A Yeah.

 4 Q This is an accurate depiction of what you saw on  the web

 5 page?

 6 A I believe so.  The print is kind of small, but I  mean,

 7 it's -- I remember the picture of Mr. Bowdoin and  going into

 8 some background about the company.

 9 MR. MUTHYALA:  Your Honor, at this time the

10 Government moves Government Exhibit No. 3 into ev idence.

11 THE COURT:  All right.  Any objection?

12 MR. GOODMAN:  I don't object, Your Honor, just so

13 long as the Government, after this hearing, files  the other

14 page print from the link that we have not yet see n.

15 MR. MUTHYALA:  Your Honor, actually, we have thos e

16 here now with me.  I will show them to the witnes s and admit

17 them along with the entire set.  I'll show them t o counsel as

18 well.

19 THE COURT:  All right.

20 (GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 3 ADMITTED.)

21 MR. MUTHYALA:  We do not have the contact page.  I

22 think counsel's main objection was to the "Join F ree" page.

23 We never saved the "Contact Us" page.

24 THE COURT:  Right.

25 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Sir, I'm showing you next  Government
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 1 Exhibit No. 4, which is the "Opportunity" tab of the ASD web

 2 page as you remember it from April 2008; is that correct?

 3 A That appears -- Yes.  That appears to be the one .

 4 MR. MUTHYALA:  Your Honor, at this time I am movi ng

 5 in Government Exhibit No. 4 into evidence.

 6 THE COURT:  All right.  Government Exhibit 4 is

 7 received.

 8 MR. GOODMAN:  No objection, Your Honor.

 9 THE COURT:  Without objection.

10 (GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 4 ADMITTED.)

11 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  And sir, Government Exhib it No. 5 is

12 the "Frequently Asked Questions" page from the Ad  Surf Daily web

13 page as you remember from April 2008; is that cor rect?

14 A That would be correct.

15 MR. MUTHYALA:  And at this time Government moves

16 Exhibit No. 5 into evidence, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT:  Without objection?

18 MR. GOODMAN:  I don't know, Your Honor.  Mr. Faya d

19 was attempting to get my attention and I can't li sten to

20 counsel and --

21 THE COURT:  All right.  Why don't you listen to

22 Mr. Fayad and tell me if you have an objection, a ll right?

23 MR. GOODMAN:  I apologize, Your Honor.

24 THE COURT:  That's all right.

25 (PAUSE.)
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 1 MR. GOODMAN:  No objection, Your Honor.

 2 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Government Exhibit 5 will  be

 3 admitted without objection.

 4 (GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 5 ADMITTED.)

 5 MR. MUTHYALA:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 6 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  Sir, did you ever have an  opportunity

 7 to see the legal statement that was posted on the  ASD web page?

 8 A The one by Mr. Garner?

 9 Q Yes.

10 A I have seen it, yes.

11 Q I'm showing you what's been marked as Government  Exhibit

12 No. 6.  Does that appear to you to be the legal s tatement from

13 Mr. Garner that was posted on the ASD web page?

14 A That appears to be it.

15 MR. MUTHYALA:  Your Honor, at this time I'm movin g

16 Government Exhibit No. 6 into evidence.

17 THE COURT:  All right.  It will be received.  I

18 think it's already in evidence, but I'll take Gov ernment

19 Exhibit 6.

20 (GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 6 ADMITTED.)

21 MR. MUTHYALA:  Thank you.

22 Q    (BY MR. MUTHYALA)  And sir, Government Exhib it No. 7 is

23 the Join Free Tab of the ASD web page; is that co rrect?

24 A That's correct.

25 MR. MUTHYALA:  Move Government Exhibit No. 7 into
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 1 evidence, Your Honor.

 2 MR. GOODMAN:  No objection.

 3 THE COURT:  All right.  Government Exhibit 7 is

 4 received.

 5 (GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 7 ADMITTED.)

 6 MR. MUTHYALA:  And I have no further questions fo r

 7 this witness, Your Honor.

 8 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Well, it's 25 after.  Do you

 9 have any redirect?

10 MR. GOODMAN:  I don't.

11 THE COURT:  All righty.  Actually, I have a few

12 questions.  I just want to make sure, again, that  I've got

13 this.

14 All right.  So I can be an advertiser and just

15 advertise and I pay money for my advertisements.  I get one --

16 a view for every dollar I pay, period?

17 THE WITNESS:  You get one credit for every dollar

18 you pay and that translates into one view, yes, Y our Honor.

19 THE COURT:  All right.  It's -- we can change the

20 names around, but I pay $100, I get 100 views?

21 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

22 THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, if I want to be a member,  I

23 can either be a free member or a paying member?

24 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

25 THE COURT:  What's the benefit of being a paying
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 1 member as opposed to a free member?

 2 THE WITNESS:  The membership levels, there were

 3 four.  The training level was the free member.  A s a trainee,

 4 you would surf 24 sites per day in order to quali fy for the

 5 rebates.  You would make 3 percent on your first level as a

 6 commission only.  There is no second level on the  trainee

 7 level, and you were allowed to cash out from your  cash balance

 8 on Monday only.

 9 The second level was what we called the executive

10 director.  That was $10 a month as a membership f ee.  It

11 allowed you to -- you still had to surf 24 sites.   It allowed

12 you to receive commissions on first and second le vel, and

13 again you would cash out on Mondays only.

14 THE COURT:  And are the commissions 10 and

15 5 percent?

16 THE WITNESS:  No, they were -- let me see if I'm

17 recalling this correctly.  It was 4 percent -- I' m sorry.

18 5 percent on the first level, and I believe it wa s 3 percent

19 on the second.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.

21 THE WITNESS:  And also, on the trainee, I'm sorry ,

22 there was a 2 percent processing fee for trainees .  That goes

23 away at the 10-dollar level.

24 THE COURT:  So 2 percent processing fee --

25 THE WITNESS:  For --
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 1 THE COURT:  -- for all commissions paid?

 2 THE WITNESS:  Actually for cash-outs, I believe, is

 3 where that was assessed.

 4 THE COURT:  Okay.

 5 THE WITNESS:  The third level was the VIP level,

 6 which was $25 a month.  You receive 7 percent on your first

 7 level.  I believe it was 5 -- 4 percent on your s econd

 8 level -- 4 percent on your second level.  You cou ld cash out

 9 Monday, Wednesday and Friday and there were no pr ocessing fees

10 and you only had to surf 18 sites per day to qual ify for the

11 rebates.

12 THE COURT:  So was there a processing fee for the

13 second level?

14 THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am.  There was only processi ng

15 fees on the trainee level.

16 THE COURT:  Okay.

17 THE WITNESS:  The fourth level is the Executive V IP,

18 which is the one that's been most talked about, w ith

19 10 percent on the first level, 5 percent on the s econd level,

20 no processing fees.  You would surf 12 sites per day and you

21 could cash out Monday through Friday.

22 THE COURT:  I thought somebody said something abo ut

23 having to see 75 sites a day.

24 THE WITNESS:  No, you had -- the maximum that you

25 could surf was 72 sites per day.
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 1 THE COURT:  To get more credits.

 2 THE WITNESS:  Exactly.  They designed that for

 3 people that had more than one website.  The train ee level, I

 4 believe, was capped at one website.

 5 The two intermediate levels, I believe, were capp ed 

 6 at three, and then the Executive VIP, you could - - you could 

 7 actually put five sites into the rotator.  They d id the 72 

 8 surfing cap -- 72-site surfing cap in order to ac commodate 

 9 the -- those people that would have three website s in the 

10 rotator at 24 a day. 

11 THE COURT:  Thank you.  That tells me what I need ed

12 to know.  Thank you, sir.

13 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

14 THE COURT:  You're excused.  Now we'll take a bre ak

15 for 10 minutes, okay.

16 THE DEPUTY CLERK:  All rise.

17 (A BRIEF RECESS WAS TAKEN.)

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  Everybody, I don't know if we' re

19 going to finish by 4:30, but I have to finish at 4:30 today

20 because I have another appointment that I need to  make that I

21 had yesterday that I never made, I never got to, and so I

22 really, really, really, I have to get there.  It' s only on the

23 fifth floor, but I have to get there nonetheless,  so at

24 4:30 we are going to have to break.

25 I don't anticipate that we will be done.  My
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 1 schedule the next two days is packed.  How do you r schedules

 2 look on Monday?  That's the soonest I have room i n this

 3 courtroom.

 4 MR. COWDEN:  Your Honor, Bill Cowden with the Uni ted

 5 States.  I understand they have one more witness.   My

 6 suggestion would be that we do the witness, we fi nish the

 7 witness and then what we could do is we could ord er the

 8 transcripts on an expedited basis and the two par ties could

 9 propose findings of fact and conclusions of law f or Your Honor

10 on an expedited basis and you could take the matt er under

11 advisement and we'd be done today.

12 MR. GOODMAN:  Agreed.

13 THE COURT:  That's fine by me.  All right.

14 Why don't you call your last witness, then.

15 MR. GOODMAN:  Yes, Your Honor.  Phil Schwartz.

16 THE COURT:  Mr. Schwartz, please come forward, si r.

17 (WITNESS SWORN BY THE DEPUTY CLERK.)

18 THE COURT:  I had one question I meant to ask the

19 last witness and didn't.  Perhaps you'll be good enough to

20 just give me the answer.

21 Does someone at the Executive VIP level have to p ay

22 a monthly fee?

23 THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  That's $100.

24 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

25 COURT REPORTER:  Was that $400? 
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 1 THE COURT:  100.  Sorry.  Go ahead.

 2 PHILIP SCHWARTZ, 

 3 having been duly sworn, testified as follows: 

 4 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

 5 BY MR. GOODMAN:  

 6 Q Good afternoon.  Tell us your name, please.

 7 A Philip Schwartz.

 8 Q Mr. Schwartz, in the interest of time, with the Court's

 9 permission, I'm just going to briefly lead him th rough some

10 questions about his background.

11 THE COURT:  Go ahead.

12 Q    (BY MR. GOODMAN)  Mr. Schwartz, you're a law yer?

13 A Yes, sir.

14 Q You're a partner of mine at Akerman Senterfitt?

15 A Yes, sir.

16 Q You're mostly a corporate business lawyer, corre ct, sir?

17 A That is correct.

18 Q You have been a corporate business lawyer who ha s given

19 seminars and lectures and those sorts of things?

20 A Yes, sir.

21 Q You have been involved in various regulatory mat ters,

22 compliance plans and investigations with various state and

23 federal agencies, am I right?

24 A That is correct.  I've worked with a number of c ompanies

25 that have been in regulatory -- have had regulato ry issues and
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 1 helped them work through those issues.

 2 Q Including the use of a compliance plan?

 3 A Including the use of a compliance plan.

 4 Q And you have been involved in investigations wit h

 5 businesses accused of, among other things, runnin g a Ponzi

 6 scheme?

 7 A Yes, sir.

 8 Q In front of you, Mr. Schwartz, is a black loosel eaf

 9 binder, and under the "Phil Schwartz" tab you wil l see that

10 the very first document there is your resume.

11 MR. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, we would offer

12 Mr. Schwartz's resume as Exhibit 6 -- Claimant's Exhibit 6.

13 THE COURT:  Any objection?

14 MR. COWDEN:  No objection.

15 THE COURT:  Thank you.

16 (CLAIMANT'S EXHIBIT 6 ADMITTED.)

17 Q    (BY MR. GOODMAN)  You will also see, Mr. Sch wartz, that

18 right underneath Exhibit 6 is something called, " The Notice of

19 Filing Compliance Plan."

20 MR. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, we would offer that as

21 Claimant's Exhibit 7, which I believe is already in the record

22 because we filed it with the clerk as of last wee k.

23 THE COURT:  We'll accept it as an exhibit at this

24 hearing.

25 MR. GOODMAN:  Thank you.
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 1 (CLAIMANT'S EXHIBIT 7 ADMITTED.)

 2 Q    (BY MR. GOODMAN)  Mr. Schwartz, I take it th at you are the

 3 primary drafter and architect of the proposed com pliance plan?

 4 A I am.

 5 Q Let me just quickly flag for you what I do not w ant you

 6 to do.  I do not want you to simply read what is in the

 7 compliance plan because Her Honor is capable of r eading that

 8 compliance plan in due course.  Are we clear?

 9 A Absolutely.

10 Q All right.  So, with those restrictions, Mr. Sch wartz,

11 and in the interest of time, please explain to us  the basis of

12 the compliance plan and why you believe it is a m echanism

13 which can help this company get back onto its fee t?

14 A Thank you, Jonathan.

15 You know, when -- when this case began, and I

16 obviously was watching all the pleadings flowing back and

17 forth, it became very clear to me that this was a  case, from

18 the standpoint of the business, where if somethin g didn't

19 happen very quickly, the business was going to be  lost because

20 effectively the business would be gone because th e money was

21 seized.  No one would do business with this compa ny unless

22 there was some methodology to bring the company b ack into the

23 good graces of the Government in an appropriate f orum and with

24 appropriate checks and balances.  

25 And so there was a discussion about the need to 
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 1 develop an appropriate compliance plan.  It was i n the motion 

 2 that our firm filed on behalf of the company, and  it was 

 3 further flushed out in the compliance plan that w as filed with 

 4 the Court some weeks ago. 

 5 The primary purpose of the plan is to accomplish

 6 three things, Your Honor.  First of all, it is in tended to

 7 protect the interests of the business, including the

 8 membership base from being lost.  This is a situa tion, a

 9 social network, if you will, on the internet in w hich it goes

10 away quickly if the business disappears for a lon g period of

11 time.  So there is an interest to be protected on  behalf of

12 the business and its membership base.

13 The second is that there needed to be a roadmap f or

14 how this business would be rehabilitated and a me thodology

15 that would provide not only oversight for the pro cess but

16 ultimately Court approvals built into the process  so that at

17 such time as the company began to re-emerge and b egan doing

18 business, there would have been a thorough vettin g with

19 oversight and Court approval before that happened .

20 And third, to maintain the status quo while all

21 these issues are sorted out.  We'll talk about th at issue

22 first because it's the simplest one.

23 The Government has said, in some of their pleadin gs,

24 the money will be gone if it's given back to the company, and

25 I understand their concern.  I think on behalf of  the company
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 1 and on behalf of the members, there is a concern that money be

 2 available ultimately for the funding of an approp riate

 3 business plan going forward, that that money be a t interest

 4 and transparent so that everyone knows the money is there for

 5 the appropriate purposes and it only gets used, e xcept for a

 6 small portion, at such time as a plan for the fut ure of the

 7 business is developed and that plan is approved b y the Court.

 8 So, only a small portion of the assets are availa ble

 9 under the plan for use to come up with and establ ish the

10 future business plan.  We picked $2 million as a proposal in

11 this case because the company is going to need to  hire some

12 employees.  One of the parts of the plan is a nee d to bring in

13 an accounting firm that will help vet the numbers  and make

14 sure that we understand what the balance sheet lo oks like

15 immediately prior to the seizure so we understand  who is owed

16 what among the members.

17 There will obviously be legal fees associated wit h

18 it and there will be the costs associated with th e monitor.

19 So, it's not an insubstantial number, but in the overall

20 context of this business, it's -- it's a small pe rcentage of

21 the dollars, and those dollars can't be used unde r this

22 proposed plan unless there is a budget which is a pproved by

23 a -- an independent monitor appointed by the Cour t.  

24 So, at the end of the day, even the use of the 

25 $2 million is subject to oversight and it can't g et used 
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 1 unless somebody, independent -- and we don't want  to have to 

 2 come back to the Court every time that we need to  make an 

 3 expenditure under this plan, so that's the purpos e, in 

 4 essence, of having a monitor who will participate  in the 

 5 process to deal with all of those issues, taking ultimately 

 6 the ultimate decision back to you. 

 7 And that will include, by the way, in terms of th e

 8 overall funds, the funds that the company has in Antigua, such

 9 as they are, because a lot of that money has alre ady been

10 taken out by members who have reversed their cred it card

11 transactions with the company.  So that's a forev er developing

12 reducing number at this moment, but at some point  all of the

13 money will be sitting in some kind of an escrow s o that

14 everybody knows where it is and everybody knows i t's at

15 interest and it's safe.

16 A small portion will be on the site for use to fu nd 

17 this interim process in which the business plan f or the future 

18 operation of the company will be developed and ev erybody's 

19 interest will be protected until such time as an ultimate 

20 decision is made by the Court that the Court is c omfortable 

21 with the company emerging from this semi-paralysi s that it's 

22 in at this moment. 

23 I must say that one of the issues that I focused on

24 fairly quickly that no one has talked about in te rms of the

25 economics of this program is when you have relati vely fixed
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 1 costs associated with the operation of the busine ss and those

 2 costs are relatively low in relation to the incom e, the more

 3 throughput you have of dollars, even if you take out

 4 significant amounts for rebates, say the 50 perce nt -- the 50

 5 cents out of every dollar, and let's even assume the ultimate

 6 levels and the memberships, the 10 percent and th e 5 percent,

 7 that takes it to 65 percent, that 35 percent beco mes very

 8 large very fast when your costs are fixed.  There  are

 9 economies of scale.

10 I did ask the company, prior to this hearing, and  we 

11 did receive, over the weekend, a July 31 financia l statement.  

12 Obviously, that financial statement has not been vetted.  It 

13 is a balance sheet and an income statement and it 's obviously 

14 unaudited and it will need to, as part of this pl an, be vetted 

15 by an accounting firm -- an independent accountin g firm that 

16 needs to come in and help us through that process .  We have 

17 identified a regional firm based in south Florida  that is very 

18 well known, has substantial experience both with forensic 

19 issues and accounting issues, a firm call Rachlan , Cohen & 

20 Holtz.  They are referenced in the filing that th e company 

21 made, that is prepared to jump in subject to obvi ously being 

22 appropriately retained.  But as I -- 

23 Q Just bear with me for a minute.

24 A Sure.

25 Q The balance statement and income statement that you just
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 1 referenced.  

 2 MR. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, we would like to introd uce

 3 that as Claimant's Exhibit 8.  I have already giv en the

 4 Government a copy before Mr. Schwartz took the st and, and if I

 5 may hand the copies up to your deputy.

 6 THE COURT:  All right.  Okay.

 7 MR. COWDEN:  No objection.

 8 THE COURT:  What's the date of this?

 9 THE WITNESS:  7/31/08, Your Honor.

10 THE COURT:  Thank you.

11 (CLAIMANT'S EXHIBIT 8 ADMITTED.)

12 A And as you would have expected, again, because o f the low

13 nature of the fixed costs, it shows for the first  seven months

14 of 2008, substantial profitability, almost $20 mi llion of net

15 income before taxes, and it shows a net worth aft er all the

16 cash balances due to members are paid out and all  these other

17 liabilities of about nine-and-a-half million doll ars, so you

18 would expect to see that because there are no gua rantees of

19 the 125 percent and you're only paying out a cert ain

20 percentage of a dollar earned.  

21 So, even if you give away some of your revenues a t a 

22 certain level because your costs are low, you're going to make 

23 money, and the company -- and again, this hasn't been vetted 

24 yet and it needs to be vetted, but it's consisten t with what 

25 you would expect to see under those circumstances .   
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 1 So, we have a business, call it a social network -- 

 2 I've heard 75,000 members, I've heard 100,00 memb ers, but that 

 3 social network of small advertisers is more than sufficient 

 4 critical mass to expect that over time it will bo th continue 

 5 to grow among its members but also it will attrac t other forms 

 6 of advertising and other types of revenues that i nternet 

 7 businesses generally receive.  And I don't know w here the 

 8 break point is where you have sufficient members to reach 

 9 that, but having been involved with a number of i nternet 

10 businesses, with the social networks, the ability  to reach 

11 those members who are participating in the busine ss is usually 

12 important today.   

13 And frankly, social networks are at the forefront  of 

14 the internet advertising world.  We only have to look at the 

15 Facebooks and the My Spaces of the world to under stand that 

16 these are the next generation of large advertisin g businesses.  

17 It is different than bricks and mortar businesses .  I remember 

18 10 years ago when the internet businesses -- when  many 

19 internet businesses were starting, people wandere d how these 

20 sites would ever make money and everybody said th e advertising 

21 will come, the advertising will come, and in many  cases it 

22 didn't, but in a lot of -- in a number of cases i t did.   

23 And so you have, with this core of businesses, wi th 

24 this core of members, a substantial opportunity, and that 

25 opportunity, from a business perspective, on beha lf of the 
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 1 company, will be gone if this company is not able  to move 

 2 forward on an accelerated track through this comp liance plan 

 3 to get its business back into the good graces of the 

 4 Government and move forward as a good corporate c itizen. 

 5 Q    (BY MR. GOODMAN)  Mr. Schwartz, excuse me fo r just a

 6 minute.  The Court has earlier heard that there w ere

 7 approximately 1200 e-mails received by an e-mail address set up

 8 by our law firm in the first five or six days aft er the seizure.

 9 A I think it was more than that in the first five or six

10 days.  It was probably 2500 to 3,000.

11 Q But as we sit here today, do you have just a bal lpark

12 figure of how many e-mails the firm has received to that

13 e-mail address?

14 A The last time I looked, it was a little bit nort h of

15 4,000.

16 Q All right.  Please continue.

17 A Okay.  So back to the compliance plan.

18 The plan is intended to provide what I call a

19 roadmap for the rehabilitation of the business.  And you have

20 to recognize that no one will do business with th is company

21 until this cloud created by the Government's acti on is lifted.

22 The plan allows the company to only go back into 

23 business if the Court ultimately allows it to do so.  And what 

24 the plan does is it says that the company is goin g to have to, 

25 at this point, because of the Government's action , take a step 
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 1 back, make sure that the business plan works, is vetted, is 

 2 thought out so that when it goes back out and bec omes 

 3 effective, all of the issues that need to be -- b e considered 

 4 and ultimately determined how they'll be handled are already 

 5 in place. 

 6 So, for example, the business plan, the terms of

 7 service, the compliance that the company goes thr ough, all of

 8 those things need to be looked at, beefed up, mak e sure they

 9 work.  To the extent that a stronger compliance f unction in

10 the company is necessary, and I believe, going fo rward, that

11 it is necessary, that all has to be put together so that if

12 there were issues, that those issues don't happen  again.

13 The company's infrastructure needs to be fixed.  The

14 company grew very fast and it had the kinds of pr oblems that

15 you often see with businesses that grow very fast .  Their

16 infrastructure was apparently not developed suffi ciently to

17 support the kind of growth they were going throug h and it

18 showed in some of the, I'm going to use the word "chaos" that

19 occurred in those couple of weeks as the company was growing

20 so quickly.  That infrastructure needs to be ther e before the

21 company reopens.

22 The third is that the members who don't want to 

23 consider -- continue as members, this plan will n eed to 

24 include some methodology for an orderly withdrawa l of those 

25 members who decide that for whatever reason they don't want to 
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 1 continue to participate, because one of the thing s that will 

 2 have to happen is any member that continues going  forward is 

 3 going to have to resubscribe, if you will, to the  terms of 

 4 service to make sure that everybody understands t hat this is 

 5 an advertising site and that they're paying for a dvertising.   

 6 And so some members may not want to continue.  I 

 7 don't know how many.  I was amazed that we got as  many e-mails 

 8 as we did.  I expected we might get 50 or 100 e-m ails to that 

 9 site.  4,000 e-mails is a lot.  I mean, I can't s ay anything 

10 more than anecdotally, the fact that there are me mbers here 

11 today, this is a passionate group of members and there are a 

12 significant number of them.  We've gotten calls f rom many of 

13 them.  I suspect that the Government has and I su spect you 

14 have, Your Honor. 

15 The members want to participate in this business,  so

16 we will have to develop a cash-out plan.  If some one wants to

17 leave, we will have to make sure that the terms o f service,

18 the infrastructure, the compliance function are a ll -- you

19 know, are all right.  We, as I said, will need to  make sure

20 the accounting is vetted.  I don't want to rely o n internal

21 company financial statements under these circumst ances.  I

22 want a good quality independent accounting firm t hat's going

23 to look at all of this and be prepared not only t o report to

24 us and to the monitor and ultimately to the Court , but I want

25 to make sure that the numbers are in fact accurat e.
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 1 So, you know, obviously there's a cloud over the 

 2 company, and therefore, anything the company says  is going to 

 3 be suspect, so we need to bend over backwards to make sure 

 4 that the data is thoroughly vetted before it's ul timately 

 5 considered by the Court in that regard. 

 6 Finally, the company is going to have to develop

 7 strong management to make sure things are done ri ght.  This

 8 business, from a corporate standpoint, has -- as is not

 9 atypical of businesses that grow very quickly, ha s been a

10 little more informal in its corporate activities than it needs

11 to be.  It will need to add strength to managemen t, it will

12 need to add oversight through a board of director s, a code of

13 ethics, and that will all have to be part of a pl an, and it

14 can be part of a plan if it's a structured plan w hereby the

15 company emerges, if you will, clean after this pr ocess.

16 If -- if -- no one will participate with the clou d 

17 over their head of the company, but folks will pa rticipate if 

18 they see a compliance plan being considered and a dopted by the 

19 Court ultimately that resolves the company's issu es and moves 

20 the company forward, and so that will have to be part of it. 

21 Speaking very quickly to the issue of Mr. Bowdoin ,

22 we -- it is clear that Mr. Bowdoin is under a clo ud at this

23 point, and therefore, he needs to participate in the business,

24 but he clearly can't be the man in charge, even t hough he is

25 the majority shareholder of the company.  And so we have
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 1 provided for him to be a consultant to the compan y as part of

 2 this compliance plan, subject to a determination by a court

 3 appointed monitor as to what is appropriate compe nsation for

 4 his services in that regard, and that's, of cours e, part of

 5 the interim -- both the interim dollars that are referred to

 6 in the plan and ultimately the future business op erations

 7 plan.

 8 Q What about a member committee and counsel for th at member

 9 committee?

10 A Well, I'm going to get there.  We -- we included  the

11 concept of a Court appointed monitor in the plan because we

12 wanted -- we didn't want to have to come to the C ourt every

13 time we had an issue with how the plan is being d eveloped.

14 Obviously, the company and I, as its counsel, and  

15 those that work with me will be driving the compa ny to put the 

16 plan together, to vet the plan, but we're company  counsel, and 

17 under the circumstances, in this type of a situat ion, we felt 

18 that a monitor could effectively oversee what, in  essence, the 

19 company and we, on behalf of the company, were do ing, and 

20 they'll be there not only to advise the Court on their own 

21 views on those issues but also to help move the p rocess along 

22 and ultimately to give the Court whatever recomme ndations that 

23 monitor thinks appropriate with respect to the ul timate 

24 disposition of the matter. 

25 We also talked about and included in the plan a
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 1 concept that I have used in other cases before in  the

 2 securities context.  This is not a securities iss ue,

 3 obviously.  This is an alleged Ponzi scheme, but the issue of

 4 interested parties participating in the developme nt of the

 5 plan and the ultimate process is an important one  in this case

 6 where so much of the assets of the business are t ied to the

 7 fact that it has this large membership advertisin g base, and

 8 so it was our view and my view that the members n eeded to have

 9 input and a voice into this process.  

10 And so the plan contemplates an -- a member steer ing 

11 committee, representative of the different kinds of members 

12 that existed, that committee will have to be vett ed, that 

13 committee will obviously have to be -- and I can' t tell you 

14 who ought to be on it today because we haven't go tten into the 

15 details but I would expect to work with the compa ny and have 

16 discussions with various groups of members and br ing to the 

17 monitor a proposed slate of appointees to a commi ttee that 

18 will have input into the process. 

19 It's the company's plan, it's the company's

20 responsibility, it's the company's business.  The  members are

21 customers, they're members, but ultimately it's t he company's

22 business, but the members have important things t o say and we

23 want them to have input.  In our view, that membe r committee

24 needs to be robust, it needs to have an active pa rticipation,

25 an active input.  It probably, if my recommendati ons follow
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 1 through, should have its own counsel so that its interests --

 2 it can, you know, not only through the members, s peak to the

 3 company about what they like, dislike about the f uture

 4 business operations plan and the cash-out plan th at are

 5 contemplated, but also to the Court, through its lawyer, so

 6 the Court has a -- has a fixed point as opposed t o hearing

 7 from individual members, a fixed point of a couns el who will

 8 be paid for by the company but will be there to r epresent the

 9 interests of the members.

10 And at the end of the process, this plan

11 contemplates that when the future business operat ions plan,

12 including the cash-out portion of the plan and al l those other

13 things I just talked about in terms of how the bu siness will

14 operate going forward, all of that will be brough t to the

15 Court for final approval with the monitor, obviou sly, having

16 the opportunity to weigh in and give Your Honor h is views, the

17 Government will have an opportunity to give you t heir views.

18 At the end of the day it provides a methodology f or 

19 bringing this case to closure and allowing this b usiness to 

20 move forward in an organized orderly fashion.  It  protects 

21 everybody's interest, and at the end of the day, if it works, 

22 it allows this company to emerge successfully as a good 

23 corporate citizen going forward. 

24 Q Mr. Schwartz, keeping in mind the streamlined na ture of

25 your testimony, are there any other significant p oints about
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 1 this compliance plan and the roadmap that you hav e not yet

 2 explained but that you think would be important?

 3 A All right.  I hope I've -- I hope I've walked th e Court

 4 and everyone through those things at this point, unless anyone

 5 has any questions.

 6 Q Well, I think the Government may have some cross -examine,

 7 I suspect.  

 8 MR. GOODMAN:  But Your Honor, I'm going to pass t he

 9 witness to Mr. Cowden, but before I forget, I kno w that you're

10 leaving at 4:30.  I didn't want to leave without thanking you

11 and your staff for being so courteous.

12 Everybody has been wonderful and it's a pleasure 

13 appearing in front of you, Your Honor.  Thank you  so much for 

14 your time. 

15 THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.

16 Mr. Cowden, did you have any questions? 

17 MR. COWDEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

19 BY MR. COWDEN:  

20 Q Mr. Schwartz, good afternoon.

21 A Good afternoon.

22 Q The Ad Surf Daily statement that we offered to - - you

23 guys offered to the Court today, that comes from the company,

24 right?

25 A That is the company's.  I received it on Saturda y.
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 1 Q Okay.  The balance sheet indicates that the -- t here is

 2 due from the Bowdoin Harris Enterprise $426,446.0 4, correct?

 3 It's on the first page, a column towards the bott om of the

 4 main column under "current assets."

 5 A Yes.  That there is a "due from" of approximatel y -- out

 6 of 41-and-a-half million dollars of assets, there  is a due

 7 from Bowdoin Harris Enterprises of $426,000, that 's correct.

 8 Q Do you know if the company's asked Mr. Bowdoin f or that

 9 money back?

10 A I have not seen this balance sheet until Saturda y, so as

11 far as I know, nothing has been done with respect  to any of

12 these issues.  We're seeing it realtime.

13 Q The balance sheet that the company submits on pa ge 3

14 indicates that package sales on the English side of

15 $83 million and on the Spanish side of $17 millio n; is that

16 right?

17 A That's what it appears to be, that's correct.

18 Q So the total package sales, over $100 million, c orrect?

19 A That is correct.

20 Q And you understand, from your testimony today an d from

21 looking at the ASD website, that ASD indicates th at if you

22 surf, you will get 125 percent of your money back , right?

23 A I know that they pay rebates of 50 percent of th e ad

24 revenues and there is some other potential member ship fees

25 that could bring it up, I guess, if you take it t o its
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 1 finality to 65 percent.

 2 Q Well --

 3 A I wouldn't characterize 125 percent as anything more than

 4 a cap on what you can earn.

 5 Q But you've heard testimony that they, in fact, a re paying

 6 that cap and they have been historically paying t hat cap and

 7 ad packages are expiring as they pay 125 percent?

 8 A Some people have earned that, that's correct, an d there

 9 are future ad -- 

10 Q Sir, we've only got 20 minutes, so I'm going to ask you

11 some "yes/no" questions and then if there is some  time for

12 follow-up, but I do want to focus on a couple of things.

13 A Sure.

14 Q And I understand that everybody's talking about,  "Oh, the

15 125 percent doesn't matter," because they're sayi ng, "Well,

16 we're only taking half our money to pay the 125 p ercent," but

17 you don't believe that, do you, sir?

18 A I believe that they're paying 50 cents out of a dollar

19 that they receive.  I believe that it's capped at  125 percent.

20 That doesn't mean people will earn 125 percent.  It means they

21 have the opportunity to earn.  The fact that peop le are

22 earning the 125 percent means that people are buy ing more

23 advertising.  That's a good thing.

24 Q The people who are earning 125 percent are earni ng

25 125 percent because they paid a dollar into Ad Su rf Daily,
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 1 right?

 2 A And they surfed and they received their rebates.

 3 Q If they paid more, they could actually surf less , right?

 4 A You're -- you're getting into the details of how  they

 5 earn those rebates.

 6 Q But those -- 

 7 A Let us simply agree that they can earn rebates t hrough

 8 the surfing process up to 125 percent.  I mean, I 'm not here

 9 to really speak to that issue, although I'm happy  to.

10 Q But that issue is actually crucial to whether th e company

11 can continue to operate, isn't it, sir?

12 A What the rebates are about is the rebates are co ntras to

13 revenue, so at the end of the day, you have to ha ve sufficient

14 revenue after you pay out rebates and other expen ses

15 associated with membership payments to make a pro fit on the

16 business.

17 If you have 100 million dollars in sales and your  

18 costs associated with the GNA, the operating expe nses, let's 

19 say they're $3 million or $4 million or $5 millio n, you can 

20 give away an awful lot of your profit before you start losing 

21 money. 

22 Q Can you give back 125 percent of your profit?

23 A You're not giving back 125 percent of your profi t.

24 Q Well, let me ask you this --

25 A You're giving back --
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 1 Q Can you give back 125 percent of your sales and have a

 2 profit?

 3 A You're giving back 50 percent of your sales up t o

 4 125 percent to any particular member who purchase d an ad pack.

 5 Q Can you -- can you give back 125 percent of your  -- if

 6 somebody gives you a dollar --

 7 A You're making -- your statement indicates to me you don't

 8 understand the concept here.  You're comparing ap ples to

 9 oranges here.

10 Q Can ASD continue to do business and offer free

11 advertising?

12 A It can continue to do business and pay out 50 pe rcent of

13 its revenues, and to the extent that someone earn s 125 percent

14 because there's additional ad sales, it can conti nue to

15 operate, yes.

16 Q Well, then, what's a Ponzi, sir?

17 A I'm not an expert in Ponzi schemes.  I have been

18 involved --

19 Q You're a securities lawyer, are you not?

20 A I am a securities lawyer, that is correct.

21 Q Let's talk about securities for a second because  you're

22 proposing that the company can do business in the  future,

23 right?

24 A I am proposing that a plan be put together that will

25 allow the company to do business in the future.
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 1 Q The way the company was doing business on July 2 7th ,

 2 2008, can they continue to do business that way l egally?

 3 A I never -- I've never reviewed that issue to rea ch that

 4 conclusion.  That was not the issue that I was ev er asked

 5 to -- that I have looked at at this point.  I hav e focused on

 6 the future of the business.

 7 You know, I was originally asked that question ab out 

 8 two weeks before the Government seized -- seizure , but I never 

 9 got an opportunity to get there because I never g ot any data 

10 to be able to start to focus on that issue.  From  the point in 

11 time that the seizure took place, my focus has be en on moving 

12 the business forward into the future.  To the ext ent that 

13 there were issues with the business as it was run  prior to the 

14 31 st , they will need to be fixed.  That's what the proc ess 

15 is about.  That's what the oversight is about.  T hat's what 

16 the monitor is about.  That's the work that will need to be 

17 done, some of the things that Mr. Nehra talked ab out.  That's 

18 the work that will need to be done so that a prop er future 

19 business operations plan can be developed. 

20 Q How long was ASD operating before it called you in to

21 take a look at things?

22 A I was contacted by ASD in late June.  I was leav ing on a

23 vacation, and so I told them I could not meet wit h them until

24 sometime in mid July.  I met with them for about an hour in

25 mid July, had a brief discussion about the busine ss, asked
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 1 them for a bunch of information, my focus being o n the issue

 2 of, was the -- was what they were involved with, could it be

 3 determined to be a security -- didn't hear from t hem.

 4 I have a very active business practice and I was 

 5 very busy during that period, and to be honest wi th you, I 

 6 wasn't calling them every day, "Where is the data , where is 

 7 the data, where is the data."  I was waiting for them to come 

 8 back to me with the data.  

 9 And then I got the call that the Government seizu re 

10 had taken place and everything from there has bee n about both 

11 dealing with the issues associated with that seiz ure and 

12 figuring out how this business, which has value, from what I 

13 can see at this point, that has opportunity, from  what I can 

14 see at this point, how it can move forward. 

15 All of those issues of, you know, do changes need  to

16 be made, any business can be made better.  But yo u're -- your

17 question is, to me, a little bit troublesome.  Fi rst of all,

18 you've only alleged it's a Ponzi scheme.  You hav en't said

19 anything about securities, to my knowledge, in yo ur complaint,

20 but leaving that issue aside --

21 Q Let me ask you.  I know you're talking and I app reciate

22 it because it's all written down and we can get i t, but let me

23 ask you a question about that.

24 Now, you read the lawyer's website, the legality

25 statement that ASD put out, right?  You've seen t hat before? 
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 1 A I have seen the legality statement.  I didn't se e it

 2 until well after the case was filed, but I have s een it.

 3 Q Okay.  And you saw the front pages of ASD where they say

 4 "advertising is free," right?

 5 A I saw the website after the -- after the Governm ent

 6 seizure.

 7 Q Okay.

 8 A I didn't have access to --

 9 THE COURT:  You have seen it.

10 THE WITNESS:  I have seen it at this point.

11 Q    (BY MR. COWDEN)  And on the lawyer's website , on the

12 website that they posted with the legality statem ent, the lawyer

13 said ASD is in compliance with all laws, all secu rities laws,

14 all state laws.  It's a well run company.  Essent ially, the

15 lawyer said, "We've looked at this, my team of la wyers, and this

16 company is compliant with the law," and you saw h im say that,

17 right?

18 A I've read the statement, yes.

19 Q All right.  And the Government's complaint says that

20 ASD -- that the funds in this case are forfeitabl e because ASD

21 was committing wire fraud, right?

22 A Among other violations alleged. 

23 Q Okay.  It's wire fraud, though, right?  The fede ral hook

24 here, federal law doesn't say it's unlawful to ru n a Ponzi

25 scheme; it says it's unlawful to commit wire frau d, right?
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 1 A In a civil case you've alleged that, that's corr ect.

 2 Q Okay.  Now, if you're in violation of securities  laws or

 3 you're running a Ponzi scheme but you're saying y ou're not and

 4 you do it over the internet, you've committed wir e fraud,

 5 right?

 6 A You want to get to the question of was the busin ess legal

 7 or illegal ahead of the seizure of the assets.  I  think you'll

 8 find from our pleadings that we believe very stro ngly that it

 9 was a legal business and that's why we've alleged  what we've

10 alleged in our responses to the seizure.  That's why the

11 motion was filed.

12 At the end of the day, I guess that's what the 

13 Court's going to determine, and part of the proce ss in the 

14 compliance plan is intended to provide a roadmap for reaching 

15 that issue, along with all of these others, in an  organized 

16 fashion that if it's determined by the Court that  this 

17 business was not illegal, that there is something  left to 

18 save. 

19 Q If the -- does your compliance plan propose, or your

20 future operation of the plan propose allowing peo ple to -- the

21 rebate program?  You've heard us talk.  I mean, w e don't

22 really -- I mean, I think you sensed this probabl y, is that we

23 understand that we've got the multilevel marketin g

24 opportunities where you can get referral commissi ons of

25 10 percent and 5 percent in this program, and you 've heard
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 1 Jerry Nehra talk about his expertise in referral companies,

 2 right?

 3 A Go on.

 4 Q But you heard that, right?

 5 A Uh-huh.

 6 Q Yes?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And then there's also this program, the rebate p rogram in

 9 this company where you can get back the dollar th at you put in

10 and an additional 25 percent and that the way tha t that's paid

11 is they pool revenue, and then depending on how m uch you

12 bought in, you get a share of that slice of the p ie until you

13 get your 125 percent, and then you're done.  You' ve heard that

14 part, right?

15 A I have heard whatever testimony took place today .

16 Q Okay.  That part of this program, does that have  any

17 place in your proposed compliance program?

18 A The future business operations plan needs to be

19 developed.  One of the things that needs to be lo oked at

20 carefully is making sure that it's right going fo rward.

21 Whether that should be part of it, whether it sho uld be

22 changed remains to be developed with appropriate oversight,

23 with member input and ultimately with court appro val.

24 Q So, is it fair to say that you're asking the Cou rt to

25 release funds so that you can spend the money to develop this
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 1 program that hasn't been developed yet?

 2 A The company is asking the Court to release a sma ll

 3 portion of the funds that will allow it to develo p that plan

 4 while this process of fighting over whether this was legal or

 5 not takes place, because if this doesn't get reso lved quickly,

 6 there isn't going to be anything to save.

 7 Nine months from now, if there's a trial and the 

 8 Court determines that this was a legal business, and I'll 

 9 assume that for purposes of my response, it doesn 't matter.  

10 There won't be a business left. 

11 Q The business in this case -- So, let me make sur e I

12 understand this.  You don't know what the future business

13 would be.  You want the Court to release some fun ds so that

14 people can figure out if they can figure out a wa y to make

15 this business run compliant with the law.  That's  the plan?

16 A The plan is to finish the work that I believe wa s already

17 starting at the company, to make sure it's right and to do it

18 in an organized and orderly fashion.  Yes, that w ill take a

19 few dollars, a small percentage of the dollars to  allow.  But

20 if it doesn't happen, there won't be anything to save.  So,

21 it's a paid victory if nine months from now the C ourt

22 determines this was a legal business.  If you don 't go through

23 that process, you won't have a business to save.

24 Q Would it be possible for Mr. Bowdoin to give you  the

25 $600,000 that he apparently owes to -- or the $42 6,000 that he
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 1 owes to ASD for you to determine whether there is  a way?

 2 A I know nothing about that $600,000 at this point .  I

 3 can't respond to that question.  What I can respo nd to is that

 4 the business needs to take a small amount of doll ars to

 5 properly create a business plan going forward tha t can be

 6 presented so that if it's determined that this wa s legal,

 7 which I believe it will be before it's over, but let's assume

 8 that for purposes, that there's something to save .

 9 I mean, the company can't do this without funds.  

10 The company is going to need a certain amount of funds.  The 

11 monitor is going to have to be paid, the accounta nts are going 

12 to have to be paid, the lawyers are going to have  to be paid, 

13 the staff is going to have to be paid, the progra mmers are 

14 going to have to be paid.  There are a number of folks that 

15 will have to participate in this, and it doesn't happen free.  

16 The company will need the funds. 

17 THE COURT:  Okay.  So this is an argument you're

18 making to me and I'm about to run out of time, bu t I would

19 like to ask a question or two.

20 THE WITNESS:  Sure.  

21 THE COURT:  If one operated on instead of your vi ew

22 of the Government's complaint, which you say does n't really

23 charge the company properly because you know how it operates,

24 or you think you know how it operates or somethin g, I'm not

25 quite sure.
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 1 THE WITNESS:  I haven't focused as much on that

 2 portion of it.

 3 THE COURT:  Yeah, but you're defending how it

 4 operates.

 5 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

 6 THE COURT:  So, put that aside because you actual ly

 7 don't know.  Forgive me.  You're not actually in a position to

 8 comment on that.  Okay.

 9 Assume with me for just a minute that the

10 Government's complaint is right and that this is wire fraud

11 and a Ponzi scheme, therefore, against federal la w and state

12 law.  Let's assume, for purposes of the question -- I haven't

13 ruled on anything, anybody -- just for purposes o f the

14 question that they're right.

15 So, by giving -- what you're talking about, the 

16 asset that this company has is that it knows all these people, 

17 but if it's a Ponzi scheme or if it's wire fraud,  this 

18 business cannot be saved, it's going to have to b e a 

19 materially different business and these people mi ght not be 

20 interested.   

21 I mean, you see my problem?  You're asking for tw o 

22 million dollars -- two or three or whatever it tu rns out to 

23 be, to reformulate the business in some way. 

24 THE WITNESS:  To allow for an orderly process so

25 that the business can be successfully reopened if  Your Honor
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 1 ultimately concludes that the legality of the bus iness is

 2 legal.  To not do it, essentially, means there is  a decision

 3 that it's illegal even if it turns out that it wa s legal

 4 because there is no business left to operate.  

 5 So, yes, you're taking a small portion of the 

 6 dollars, a portion, I would argue, by the way, is  likely to be 

 7 profit earned by the company from the operation o f the 

 8 business to make sure that that opportunity is th ere for the 

 9 business if, in fact, till this dispute is determ ined, that 

10 this is a legal business. 

11 THE COURT:  Okay.  So let's -- I'll take it as a --

12 an undetermined, and as of this moment, undetermi nable fact as

13 to whether or not the business was engaged in wir e fraud

14 and/or was a Ponzi scheme.  I can't determine tha t, don't have

15 final briefs, don't know the answer to that quest ion.

16 If that's so, why is it not possible for Ad Surf

17 Daily, through you and your colleagues, to just n egotiate with

18 Mr. Cowdoin to say, "Listen, you're going to put us completely

19 out of business.  Let us take some of this money.   Let us

20 revamp this thing so everybody's satisfied it's n ot illegal

21 and go on with life?  You can always figure out y our

22 litigation later, but don't kill us off in the me antime."

23 Why is this not a settlement negotiation rather t han 

24 a presentation to the Court? 

25 MR. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, I can answer that
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 1 question.

 2 THE COURT:  I cannot get into settlement

 3 discussions.

 4 MR. GOODMAN:  I'm not going to tell you the resul ts.

 5 All I can tell you is I always do that before tri al and I

 6 always followed my practice in this case.

 7 THE COURT:  Okay.  So the parties aren't in a

 8 position to settle?

 9 MR. COWDEN:  Judge, there's another problem here.

10 If the United States takes the position that peop le, when they

11 gave a dollar to ASD were expecting a 1.25 back, that's a

12 fundamentally different model than somebody who w as paying for

13 advertising and not expecting money back, so...

14 THE COURT:  I agree with you that --

15 MR. COWDEN:  One of the questions here is do we g ive

16 this money back to Andy Bowdoin for him to start a legitimate

17 when apparently he didn't go to Akerman Senterfit t before he

18 was running this thing for 18 months to give them  some time to

19 look at it and say, "Holy moly, you're running a securities

20 business.  You're saying you're not.  That's a wi re fraud.

21 We've got a problem here.  Let's see if we can ca ll up the

22 Department of Justice before they come through th e door."

23 It was a little too late.  That's not -- I mean, 

24 we've got now people who paid money in and expect ed a return 

25 not to buy an ad for ASD, and so if that money th en goes to 
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 1 Andy Bowdoin to start a legitimate business, then  these people 

 2 are -- then we're -- then they're twice -- twice -- 

 3 THE COURT:  Twice -- 

 4 MR. COWDEN:  Twice damages.

 5 THE WITNESS:  I would argue with you, money is no t

 6 going to Andy Bowdoin.  It's going to Ad Surf Dai ly because

 7 it's Ad Surf Daily's business.

 8 THE COURT:  Okay.  And I understand your answer a nd

 9 I understand the issue about the monitor and I un derstand why

10 it's not between you and it's in front of me and so that

11 answers that question.  Thank you, sir.

12 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  Thank you for your assistance.

14 All right.  Everybody, what about briefing?  I 

15 really need to be out of here so we need to ident ify a 

16 schedule, an expedited schedule so that this can be decided. 

17 MR. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, I believe -- at least I

18 can speak for myself -- that we will be able to s ubmit, and

19 it's up to the court, of course, whether you want  a

20 post-hearing memorandum of law as opposed to prop osed findings

21 of fact and conclusions of law.  Whatever you tel l me to

22 submit --

23 THE COURT:  I just need proposed findings of fact

24 and conclusions of law, and they can be in number ed

25 paragraphs.
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 1 MR. GOODMAN:  Very well.  I believe that I will b e

 2 able to submit that, obviously, without record ci tations,

 3 without the benefit of a transcript because time is of the

 4 essence, and as competent and efficient as the co urt reporters

 5 may be, I don't want to wait two weeks for a tran script before

 6 submitting the proposed findings and conclusions.

 7 THE COURT:  Yeah.  Having not asked for expedited

 8 treatment ahead of time, we probably had not set it up so you

 9 would be able to get transcripts very quickly.

10 Mr. Bowdoin [sic], would you be in -- I'm sorry, you 

11 didn't give a deadline actually. 

12 MR. GOODMAN:  It's 4:30.

13 THE COURT:  It is.  It's 4:30 on Wednesday, and I

14 need to be out of here.

15 MR. GOODMAN:  Yes.  I believe that I will be able  to

16 submit proposed findings and conclusions within o ne week, Your

17 Honor.

18 THE COURT:  One week.  All right.  And you'd come

19 second.  What's yours?

20 MR. COWDEN:  Judge, why don't we try to just do i t

21 at the same time and just do joint, submit them a t the same

22 time.

23 THE COURT:  All righty.  Joint.

24 MR. COWDEN:  That will speed it up.

25 THE COURT:  That will speed it up.
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 1 MR. COWDEN:  And I'm Cowden, for the record.

 2 THE COURT:  I know this.  Ladies and gentlemen, I

 3 actually know the parties.  I really understand w ho the

 4 parties are, and I apologize for my misstatements .

 5 Thank you, everybody.  It was nice to see you-all .   

 6 MR. GOODMAN:  Thank you once again, Your Honor. 

 7 THE COURT:  You're most welcome.  I look forward to

 8 your pleadings.

 9 THE DEPUTY CLERK:  All rise.

10 THE COURT:  And I am going to have to take these

11 arguments under advisement until you're able to f ile things,

12 so that I'm going to need to extend the time to r ender a

13 decision on the emergency motion under 18 U.S.C. 983 F 5 at

14 least until two weeks after I get your briefs, al though I

15 understand your point about speed.  Just giving m yself two

16 weeks, in case.

17 MR. GOODMAN:  Understood, Your Honor.

18 THE COURT:  Thank you.

19 MR. COWDEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  Thank you.

21 (PROCEEDINGS END AT 4:33 P.M.)

22 *-*-*-* 

23  

24  

25  
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